Public Document Pack

SCRUTINY BOARD (STRATEGY AND RESOURCES)
Meeting to be held remotely in Zoom on
Monday, 16th November, 2020 at 10.30 am
(A pre-meeting will take place for ALL Members of the Board at 10.00 a.m.)
MEMBERSHIP
Councillors
G Almass -

Beeston and Holbeck;

P Carlill -

Calverley and Farsley;

D Chapman S Firth M Harland (Chair) -

Rothwell;
Harewood;
Kippax and Methley;

H Hayden -

Temple Newsam;

D Jenkins -

Killingbeck and Seacroft;

J McKenna M Midgley M Robinson S Seary -

Armley;
Kippax and Methley;
Harewood;
Pudsey;

Note to observers of the meeting: To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the
link below. This will take you to the meeting home page where you can access Leeds City
Council’s YouTube channel, and the meeting can be viewed live from there:
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1041&MId=10111

Principal Scrutiny Adviser:
Rob Clayton
Tel: 37 88790
Produced on Recycled Paper

A

AGENDA

Item
No
1

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION
OF DOCUMENTS
To consider any appeals in accordance with
Procedure Rule 25* of the Access to Information
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the
press and public will be excluded).
(* In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, notice of
an appeal must be received in writing by the Head
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before
the meeting).

2

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
1

To highlight reports or appendices which
officers have identified as containing exempt
information, and where officers consider that
the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information, for the reasons
outlined in the report.

2

To consider whether or not to accept the
officers recommendation in respect of the
above information.

3
If so, to formally pass the following
resolution:RESOLVED – That the press and public be
excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following parts of the
agenda designated as containing exempt
information on the grounds that it is likely, in
view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings,
that if members of the press and public were
present there would be disclosure to them of
exempt information, as follows:
No exempt items have been identified.

B

Item
No
3

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
LATE ITEMS
To identify items which have been admitted to the
agenda by the Chair for consideration.
(The special circumstances shall be specified in
the minutes.)

4

DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY
INTERESTS
To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of
the Members’ Code of Conduct.

5

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND
NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTES
To receive any apologies for absence and
notification of substitutes.

6

MINUTES - 12 OCTOBER 2020

7 - 14

To confirm as a correct record, the minutes of the
meeting held on 12 October 2020
7

LEEDS CITY COUNCIL CONTRIBUTION TO
WELCOME TO YORKSHIRE
To receive a report from the Chief Officer Financial
Services presenting details of Leeds City Council’s
contribution to Welcome to Yorkshire. This report
has been brought to the meeting following
questions raised by Scrutiny Board members in
relation to Welcome to Yorkshire at previous
meetings.

C

15 32

Item
No
8

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
COLLECTION RATES FOR COUNCIL TAX AND
BUSINESS RATES - 2020/21

33 40

To receive a report from the Head of Democratic
Services that provides details on collection rates
for Council Tax and Business Rates in 2020/21.
This follows board member interest in how the
Covid-19 pandemic has impacted collection rates
in Leeds.
9

COVID-19: AGILE WORKING APPROACH AND
ESTATE REALISATION

41 50

To receive a report from the Director of City
Development and Director of Resources and
Housing looking at how the Council has developed
new ways of working in response to the Covid-19
pandemic. This includes home working, taking
account of staff well-being, the ongoing changing
the workplace programme and use of office
accommodation and assets.

10

WORK SCHEDULE
To consider the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for
the 2020/21 municipal year.

11

DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING
Monday, 11th January 2021 at 10.30 am (Premeeting for all Board Members at 10.00 am)

D

51 78

Item
No

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
THIRD PARTY RECORDING
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those
not present to see or hear the proceedings either as
they take place (or later) and to enable the reporting of
those proceedings. A copy of the recording protocol is
available from the contacts on the front of this agenda.
Use of Recordings by Third Parties – code of practice
a) Any published recording should be
accompanied by a statement of when and
where the recording was made, the context
of the discussion that took place, and a clear
identification of the main speakers and their
role or title.
b) Those making recordings must not edit the
recording in a way that could lead to
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the
proceedings or comments made by
attendees. In particular there should be no
internal editing of published extracts;
recordings may start at any point and end at
any point but the material between those
points must be complete.

E

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
SCRUTINY BOARD (STRATEGY AND RESOURCES)
MONDAY, 12TH OCTOBER, 2020
PRESENT:

Councillor H Hayden in the Chair
Councillors G Almass, P Carlill,
D Chapman, S Firth, D Jenkins,
J McKenna, M Midgley, M Robinson and
S Seary

40

Nomination of Chair
The Principal Scrutiny Adviser informed Members that the Chair of the Board,
Cllr Harland had sent her apologies as she was unwell. Therefore, he was
seeking nomination to the Chair.
Cllr Hayden was nominated to the Chair with the agreement of all Board
Members.
RESOLVED – That Cllr Hayden be formally elected to the Chair.
CHAIRS OPENING COMMENTS

41

The Chair thanked her Board Members for their support, and welcomed all to
the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board meeting.
Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents

42

There were no appeals against refusal of inspection of documents.
Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public

43

There were no exempt items.
Late Items

44

There were no late items of business.
Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

45

There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests.
Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitutes

46

Apologies were received from Cllr Harland.
Minutes - 7 September 2020

47

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 7th September 2020
be approved as a correct record.
Matters arising
In relation to minute 34 Matters arising – In relation to an item from a previous
meeting in regard to Welcome to Yorkshire. It was noted that since the last
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 16th November, 2020

Page 7

meeting there had been more information in relation to a grant not being
approved from Wakefield City Council. Members were concerned that there
seemed to have been conflicting information and were seeking to ensure that
full clarity would be given to the Board at its meeting in November including a
full budget position and finances.

48

Also under Minute 34 Matters arising - Cllr Harland as Chair of Scrutiny
Board, Strategy and Resources and Cllr Hayden as Chair of Scrutiny Board,
Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles, had sent a joint letter to the Secretary of
State in relation to long term funding of social care. It was agreed that the
letter should be provided as part of the minutes to the November meeting. It
was noted that no reply had been received.
Capital Programme Review, Revenue Budget Update 2021/22 and
Budget Savings Proposals
The report of the Head of Democratic Services provided Board Members with
an update on the budget position for 2021/22 and consider both the Revenue
Budget Update and Savings Proposals and Capital Programme Review
reports approved by Executive Board on 24 September 2020.
In attendance for this item were:
 Cllr James Lewis – Deputy Leader of Council and Executive Member
for Resources;
 Victoria Bradshaw – Chief Officer Financial Services;
 Neil Evans – Director of Resources and Housing;
 Cluny Macpherson – Chief Officer Culture and Sport
Members were informed of the following points;
 At its July meeting the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board
considered the initial impact of Covid-19 on the Council’s budget
position both in terms of the current year and the projected impact on
financial year 2021/22. Since that time Executive Board considered a
further budget update and savings proposals for 2021/22 at its meeting
on 24 September 2020;
 The budget gap for 2020/21 stands at £118.8m of which £59.7m is due
to pressures identified prior to the impact of COVID-19 with the balance
of £59.1m resulting from the ongoing financial impact of COVID-19;
 £32.3m had been identified through the Financial Challenge
Programme of which £24.2m related to Business as Usual and £8.2m
related to Service Review measures. In respect of the Board’s remit the
Resources and Housing Directorate (in which the majority of the
services covered by the Board’s remit sit) had identified £5.01m of
Business as Usual savings and £6.33m that related to service reviews
that would require further consultation;
 The Scrutiny Board’s working group held a meeting on 25th September
2020, the outcomes of this meeting and a further planned working
group on 19th November will inform the council’s decision-making in
relation to the Budget for 2021/22. Comments and recommendations
made by the Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) during this
consultation process will be captured within a composite report from
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 16th November, 2020

Page 8





Scrutiny to be submitted as part of the Provisional Budget report to the
Executive Board in December.
It was noted that in addition to the savings proposals considered by
Executive Board in September more savings proposals would be
brought to the Executive Board meetings in October and November.
There was a need to save around £80m for 2021-2022. The
Directorate would be looking at areas such as asset disposal and back
office savings. This would require delivering services differently and
would also see a reduction in staff. It was noted that there had been
interest in the Early Leavers Scheme which had seen about 1,000
people indicating that they would wish to go. Consideration of ELI
submissions is currently ongoing and it was thought that staff
reductions in this Directorate could be delivered through voluntary
means. Although, there was the potential that in some service areas
this may not be possible. Discussions with Trade Unions were currently
ongoing;
The last Medium Term Financial Strategy had been agreed in July
2019, it had been recognised that there were dwindling resources.
There had been a reset on the financial strategy due to Covid-19 which
has had an impact on the budget, not just in this year but will do so into
future years.

In response to questions from Members, the Board was informed of the
following:
 The reduction of 528 posts would be through a number options
including Early Leavers Initiative, of which there had been 1,000
expressions of interest, removal of vacant posts and the possibility of
redundancies. However, those who were made redundant would go
into the Talent Pool and matched to those who wished to leave to
where the vacancies needed filling;
 Staff workloads would change and this would be done through changes
to processes and the use of technology;
 The Leeds Building Services contract had been extended to make
savings and offer tenants value for money. Leeds Building Services
would be looking to absorb the work previously undertaken by Mears in
the South of the City. There may be a need to take on staff in this area
of work due to different skills set required for specific jobs;
 Council staff had shown that they are an adaptable workforce, and it
was hoped that those who faced redundancy would take up roles
elsewhere in the Council;
 Responding to a question about the possibility of negative interest
rates the board were informed that the Council currently has a fixed
rate for its loans and therefore would not necessarily be affected by
negative interest rates brought in by the Bank of England. However,
short term borrowing would provide reductions which could be reflected
in the Medium Term Financial Strategy, this had not been factored in
but the possibility of negative interest rate would be monitored.
RESOLVED – To note the content of the report.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 16th November, 2020

Page 9

49

Scrutiny Inquiry into the reduction of energy consumption in Council
buildings – formal response to recommendations
The report of the Head of Democratic Services presented a formal response
to the recommendations arising from last year’s Scrutiny Inquiry into the
reduction of energy consumption in Council buildings, this was set out at
Appendix 1.
In attendance for this item were:
 Cllr James Lewis – Deputy Leader of Council and Executive Member
for Resources
 Neil Evans – Director of Resources and Housing
 Polly Cook – Chief Officer, Sustainable Energy and Air Quality
 Mark Mills – Head of Asset Management
The Board had undertaken an Inquiry during October and November 2019 in
accordance with the agreed terms of reference. A report summarising the
conclusions and recommendations of the Scrutiny Board was then agreed on
18th November 2019, this was appended to the submitted report.
Members were advised of the following:
 Recommendation 1- The Council is now able to separate out data for
its electrical consumption in all our buildings. Data is also collected for
the electrical charging points. Investment in more electrical heating
would require monitoring to assess any impact, and this would be on a
site by site basis;
 Recommendation 2 –The Council currently has 700 operational
buildings with 200 of these classed as key operational buildings. The
Council has a wide range of buildings some of which are heritage
buildings. It was recognised that some of the historic buildings may not
have scope to be used in the future. Asset Management Strategy is
currently being updated and a report will be presented to Executive
Board later in the year;
 Recommendation 3 – The Asset Management Strategy will consider
the carbon footprint, asset reduction, spread of buildings and how they
are used. The Strategy would also consider how we are currently
working with more people working from home and also travel
demands. It was noted that services may be required to work
differently and this would be through digital means in the future;
 Recommendation 4 –To look at the carbon footprint comparing people
working from home, compared to their commute into work. The
standard Housing Database was used to see how energy usage
changes for someone working from home between 9 hours and 16
hours a day. It was recognised that some people may not put their
heating on whilst at home which would make savings better, but the
calculations had been based on someone heating their home for 16
hours. The staff travel survey had been used to look at where people
travelled into work from, including distance and mode of transport. It
was noted that even in winter there would be a 1kg saving per day of
CO2 and in summer 1.72kg of savings. It was concluded that heating
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 16th November, 2020

Page 10

the home more often was better than the travel emissions that would
have been caused by regular commuting. It was also realised that
there are different factors which could affect this and in the current
situation there may be more than one person working from home
therefore, sharing carbon and saving on two lots of commute;
Recommendation 5 – In early summer the Council was made aware of a fund
of one billion pounds from Central Government, which is being provided
through SALIX but as a grant not an interest free loan. This is based on the
carbonisation of heating buildings not just Council buildings but any public
sector buildings. It was noted that linked to the work already being undertaken
such as the District Heating System there would be an opportunity to pull in
more funding to maximise what we are able to do for the Council’s estate in
the future.
Responding to questions from Members the Board was provided with the
following information:

Not all Council buildings have re-opened after lockdown. Those
that have are Covid secure and are operating at around 20-50
percent capacity. Access and egress of building is through a
booking and signing in system. Buildings which remain closed
include Enterprise House and St Georges House. It was noted that
Enterprise House is leased and that discussions were currently
ongoing with the landlord;
 On school accessing the SALIX funding, it would not be re-payable
due to the grant structure and discussions were therefore ongoing
with schools to access the funding especially those which require
new boilers;
 The transport network is currently run by private operators, but it
was noted that there is sufficient money to keep services going;
 Trade waste is now collected in-house and is not collected on a
pattern basis, bins are only emptied when required;
 It was recognised that working from home required a reliable
connection to Wi-Fi. Members were advised that the Council had
been working to improve connectivity in a number of areas of the
city and there were a number of touchdown desks available for use;
 Feedback from the staff survey showed that of the 8,000 staff
working from home 10-15% were struggling to work from home,
whilst 80% said that they were happy to work from home half of the
time. The reasons given for wanting to work half-time in a building
was to see people and have the collaboration of working with
colleagues. With this in mind it was the view that in future, buildings
may require more meeting and collaboration spaces;
 In relation to historic buildings in the Councils estate, Members were
advised that work was continuing to address the use of buildings
such as Pudsey Town Hall and Rothwell Council Offices. There
were a number of considerations including access, maintenance
and local sensitivity around such buildings. There had been a
commitment from City Development to work with local ward
members on finding a solution for such buildings;
 It was noted that the book value of all properties that the Council
own would be checked prior to going for sale, this would also inform
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 16th November, 2020

Page 11

which type of sale the property would be sold in. It was noted that
there would be a reserve put on those that go to auction.
In light of recent issues with White Rose Energy and Robin Hood Energy, it
was suggested that staff who had previously used these suppliers be
encouraged to look at other providers to ensure that they were getting best
value for money. The Board agreed to discuss this at a future meeting.
RESOLVED – To note the content of the report.

50

Scrutiny review of the management and financial implications of void
properties in Council ownership - recommendation tracking update
The report of the Head of Democratic Services set out the progress made in
responding to the recommendations arising from the previous Scrutiny review
of the management and financial implications of void properties in Council
ownership.
In attendance for this item were:
 Cllr James Lewis – Deputy Leader of Council and Executive Member
for Resources
 Neil Evans – Director of Resources and Housing
 Mark Mills – Head of Asset Management
The Board decided to consider the management and financial implications of
void properties in Council ownership. A working group meeting, took place on
29th October 2018. A formal Statement setting out the Scrutiny Board’s
conclusions and recommendations was then agreed in February 2019. In July
2019, the Scrutiny Board received a formal response to the recommendations
arising from this review.
The Scrutiny recommendation tracking system allows the Scrutiny Board to
consider the position status of its recommendations in terms of their on-going
relevance and the progress made in implementing the recommendations
based on a standard set of criteria. This standard set of criteria was presented
in the form of a flow chart at Appendix 1.
Details of progress against each recommendation were set out within the
table at Appendix 2.
Member’s discussions included:
 Establishment of Asset Management Plans to aid future estate
planning;
 Service reviews to assess service and building changes;
 Reduction of period between properties becoming vacant and being
put on the market;
 Strategic Development Group process to consider marketing and
disposal of vacant properties;
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 16th November, 2020

Page 12



51

Ward Member engagement in discussions around void properties
especially those that are locally sensitive.

RESOLVED – To accept Recommendations 1 and 2 as met and that the
Board would continue to monitor Recommendation 3.
Work Schedule 2020/21
The report of the Head of Democratic Services requested Members
consideration on the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for the municipal year
2020/21.
The Principal Scrutiny Adviser informed the Board that the meeting would look
to address the additional details that Board Members had requested on
Welcome to Yorkshire including an audit analysis and concerns in regard to
the decisions making process. It was suggested that a witness be invited to
the meeting.
The November meeting would also consider:
 A report on ways of working and the impact on staff; and
 A report on Council Tax and Business Rates Recovery.
Members were advised of a working group to discuss the budget in
November. A date would be confirmed for this as quickly as possible

52

RESOLVED – To note the content of the report.
Date and Time of Next Meeting
The date and time of the next meeting of Scrutiny Board (Strategy and
Resources) will be Monday, 16 November 2020 at 10.30 am (Pre-meeting for
all Board Members at 10.00 am).
The meeting concluded at 12:08

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Monday, 16th November, 2020

Page 13

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
Report author: Victoria Bradshaw
Tel: 0113 3788540

Report of Chief Officer Financial Services
Report to Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board
Date: 16th November 2020
Subject: Leeds City Council contribution to Welcome to Yorkshire
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary
1. Main issues


In response to the news that Welcome to Yorkshire (WtY) are in receipt of grants
from West Yorkshire authorities, including Leeds City Council, Strategy and
Resources Scrutiny Board have requested further information on the decision
making process followed.



The North and West Yorkshire (NWY) Business Rates Pool commenced on 1st April
2019 and was dissolved on 31st March 2020. The Pool closed with a surplus which
was notionally allocated to its member authorities.



Following discussion with West Yorkshire authorities, Leeds made a decision to use
part of the NWY Pool surplus allocated to this authority to provide funding to WtY in
2020/21. This same decision was also taken by Bradford Council, Calderdale
Council and Kirklees Council.



This report will inform Scrutiny Board of the situation with regards to business rates
pools in the region and the grant funding provided to WtY.

2. Best Council Plan implications (see the latest version of the Best Council Plan)


The Best Council Plan is the Council’s strategic plan which sets out its ambitions,
outcomes and priorities for the City of Leeds and the Local Authority.

Page 15



This report will advise of the recent financial contribution made to Welcome to
Yorkshire facilitating the Best City Ambition to have ‘A Strong Economy and a
Compassionate City’.

3. Resource implications


This report deals with the financial contributions made by the Council to Welcome to
Yorkshire.

Recommendations
a) Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board are asked to note the contents of this
report.
1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

Following a request submitted to Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board this report
has been prepared to advise on the following:


A brief history of pooling in the region and the current pooling position;



The 2019/20 NWY Business Rates Pool;



Allocations of funding to Welcome to Yorkshire;



Decision making requirements in Leeds;



Further comment in response to previous Strategy and Resources Scrutiny
Board questions.

2.

Background information

2.1

Leeds City Council has been part of a business rates pooling regime since 2013/14.
This is described in more detail at Appendix 1. However, in summary:


2013/14-2018/19 – Leeds City Region Pool, with a 100% BR Retention Pilot
in the final year.



2019/20 – North and West Yorkshire Business Rates Pool with 75% BR
Retention Pilot.



2020/21 – North and West Yorkshire Business Rates Pool based on 50% BR
Retention with member authorities paying levies (if applicable) into the Pool,
rather than to Government.

2.2

This report will focus on the 2019/20 NWY Business Rates Pool, as it was the
surplus allocated from this Pool, that Leeds used in making the decision to fund
WtY in 2020/21.

3.

Main issues
North and West Yorkshire Business Rates Pool

3.1

The 2019/20 NWY Business Rates Pool commenced on 1st April 2019 and was
dissolved on 31st March 2020.

Page 16

3.2

The final financial position for the Pool will not be known until all member authorities
have had their NNDR3 returns audited. Due to the Coronavirus pandemic, the
Government have postponed the deadline for this until November 2020.

3.3

With this in mind, we are unable to confirm the final position for the Pool, but we are
able to estimate it based on the unaudited NNDR3 returns from members. These
have been used in the estimated income below.

3.4

As shown in Table 1, the estimated additional growth generated by the Pool is
£26.7m. £4.2m is allocated to safety net payments and the remaining balance,
£22.5m, is redistributed: two-thirds directly to member authorities (based on
population and growth); and one-third to be retained by the Pool.
Table 1: Additional Growth, 2019/20 NWY Pool
Reported in:
"Additional growth" generated by the 75% retention pool pilot
Safety net payment from Pool to authorities in safety net
Balance to be shared between authorites and pool

July 2020
£m
-26.7
4.2
-22.5

Balance redistributed to member authorities:
Based on Population (1/3 of "balance to be shared")
Based on Growth (1/3 of "balance to be shared")
Balance retained by the Pool (1/3 of "balance to be shared")

7.5
7.5
7.5
22.5

3.5

The additional growth and estimated balance retained by the Pool, £7.5m, is £0.3m
higher than was reported in March 2020. This is due to higher than estimated
additional growth in the region.

3.6

During 2019/20 the Joint Committee approved expenditure of £5.8m, this left a
remaining balance to be allocated to member authorities of £2.1m, as shown in
Table 2 below.

3.7

It should be noted that this includes £0.68m committed to the 2020/21 Tour de
Yorkshire which is currently postponed to next year. If the event is cancelled this
funding will be added to the remaining balance to be allocated to member
authorities
Table 2: Approved Expenditure, 2019/20 NWY Pool

Page 17

North and West Yorkshire Pool

£m

2019/20 Estimated Income

£m
-7.501

Commitments agreed 27/06/19
Welcome to Yorkshire subscriptions
Tour de Yorkshire
UCI Cycle Race
Secretariat Functions (NY)
Lead Authority Administration Costs

2019/20
2019/20
2019/20
2019/20
2019/20

0.323
0.550
0.600
0.204
0.030
1.707

Commitments agreed 27/06/19 requiring further information
Welcome to Yorkshire draft business plan
2019/20
Screen Yorkshire
2020/21

1.000
0.175
1.175

Commitments agreed 07/10/19
Welcome to Yorkshire subscriptions
Secretariat Functions (NY+WY)
Combined Authority Transport Fund
Tour de Yorkshire starts/finishes
Tour de Yorkshire (NY CC)

2020/21
2020/21
2020/21
2020/21
2019/20

0.323
0.820
0.700
0.675
0.100
2.618

Commitments agreed 07/10/19 requiring further information
Screen Yorkshire
2021/22
Low Carbon
2019/20

0.175
0.100
0.275

Remaining Balance to be allocated to member authorities

-1.726

3.8

In October 2019 the Joint Committee agreed that the remaining balance, now
£1.7m, would be allocated to member authorities based on population and growth
and in accordance with the Pool’s governance agreement. In order to access the
funding member authorities completed a simple proforma application to identify how
this share of the funding would be used to meet the Pool’s Strategic Aims.

3.9

In October 2019 Leeds City Council’s share of the estimated surplus was £0.67m.
The Leeds City Council application submitted indicated this funding would be used
to support the MIT REAP project in Economic Services.

3.10 As the year progressed the estimated additional growth decreased, and in March
2020 the Leeds share was estimated to be £0.42m. However, the increased
additional growth that has been incorporated in the unaudited NNDR3 returns has
led to an increase in the Leeds City Council share of the remaining balance, to
£0.52m.
3.11 A summary table showing the allocation to all Pool members is shown at Appendix
2. As referred to above, we should be aware that this could be subject to change
once all NNDR3 returns are audited.
3.12 The Joint Committee approved that the remaining balance would be allocated in this
way. As referred to above, the Pool has now been dissolved and the Joint
Committee is no longer in existence. As such, authorities must make any further
decisions individually through their normal governance procedures.
Page 18

Welcome to Yorkshire (WtY) contribution
3.13 Earlier in the 2020/21 financial year The Chief Executive at Kirklees Council was in
discussions with authorities across the Yorkshire Region to agree contributions to
WTY for the year 2020/21. It should be noted that not all regions have fully and
formally approved these proposals, and we understand that there have been
changes to the original proposal shown at Paragraph 3.14 below.
3.14 The original proposal was as follows:

3.15 Leeds City Council were not involved in the wider discussions across Yorkshire and
can therefore only comment on the current position in West Yorkshire.
3.16 West Yorkshire authorities held discussions around using their share of the 2019/20
NWY Pool remaining balance to fund a contribution to WTY for 2020/21.
3.17 The initial proposal was that West Yorkshire would contribute £0.527m. Discussions
were held over the method used to allocate the cost of the WTY contribution in
West Yorkshire authorities. The proposal was that the contribution would be
allocated by population. This results in a Leeds share of £0.180m.
3.18 Subsequent to these discussions, Wakefield Council made the decision not to fund
WtY in 2020/21. As such, the total value of the contribution from West Yorkshire
was reduced by £0.079m, and the total contribution was £0.448m. The contribution
value from Leeds remained unchanged.
3.19 A delegated decision was taken by the director of City Development on the 5 th
August 2020 agreeing the payment of £179,658 to Welcome to Yorkshire. This
decision making route meets the Authority’s governance requirements for this value.
3.20 As lead authority for the NWY Pool, Leeds City Council were in possession of the
remaining Pool balance. As such Leeds made payment to WtY on behalf of
Bradford, Calderdale, Kirklees and Leeds. The full value of this payment was
£0.448m. Payment was made following confirmation from each authority that their
internal individual approvals were in place.
3.21 After making payment to WtY, the remaining Leeds share of the 2019/20 Pool
surplus is £0.336m. As previously noted this will be used to support the MIT REAP
project in Economic Services.
Welcome to Yorkshire (WtY) Further Information
3.22 Whilst this report looks at the WtY contribution from Leeds within the context of the
business rates pools, further topics have been queried by members of Strategy and
Resources Scrutiny Board. We are able to provide some clarity on the following, but
suggest that further information could be sought from WtY where appropriate.
3.23 Future Plans
Leeds City Council’s position on WtY was made clear in the Delegated Decision
Report, referred to at Paragraph 3.19 above, which states the following: “Welcome
to Yorkshire (WTY) is the official tourism agency (DMO) for the traditional county of
Page 19

Yorkshire, promoting Yorkshire tourism both nationally and internationally.” The
report goes on to say: “Welcome to Yorkshire is playing a significant role in the
economic recovery of the tourism sector across the region, and working in close
partnership with Leeds City Council to ensure city level exposure as an integral part
of its national campaign, which will be documented as part of a formal SLA”.
WtY have worked with local authorities to produce Recovery Strategy for tourism in
the region in the current COVID-19 situation. This document is in the public domain
and linked here:
Recovery Plan: https://industry.yorkshire.com/covid-19-business-support/yorkshires-recovery-plan-for-the-tourism-sector
In addition to this, WtY are refreshing their longer term strategic plan. This is not yet
in the public domain, but can be shared once it is complete. Leeds City Council
have worked with WtY to produce a strategic services document for the authority
(noted as the SLA in the DDN report). This document is awaiting sign off.
3.24 WtY Constitution
The Welcome to Yorkshire Board includes representatives from the Public Sector,
and the Legal, Finance and Tourism industries.
The Public Sector representatives are:
Councillor Carl Les – North Yorkshire County Council
Mayor Ros Jones – Doncaster Council
In addition to this, at the North and West Yorkshire Business Rates Pool Joint
Committee meeting on 7th October 2019 the following was agreed: Recruitment to
the Welcome Yorkshire Board be carried out immediately and the interim Chair
arrangements cease with immediate effect, and for a period of 12 months, a public
sector appointee becomes interim Chair and the new Board is in place no later than
the end of the financial year.
The public sector appointee was Peter Box who, at that time, was the Leader of
Wakefield Council. A Welcome to Yorkshire Board meeting was held on the same
day and at that meeting the interim Chair stood down and Peter Box was appointed
Chair of the Board.
The code of conduct for the Board is available on the WtY website here:
https://industry.yorkshire.com/about/welcome-to-yorkshire-board/board-code-ofconduct
WtY are currently undergoing a full governance review. The WtY Board are
considering recommendations from the report on 12th November. After this time
more information will be available.
3.25 Audited accounts for 2018/19
The statement attached at Appendix 3 was given to the Yorkshire Post on 1st
October and they reported on it the next day. This statement to the Yorkshire Post
reflects the current position.
4.

Corporate considerations

4.1

Consultation and engagement

Page 20

4.1.1 At the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board on the 22nd July 2020, the Board
was advised that it was the Council’s intention to continue to support Welcome to
Yorkshire, however, at that time no decision had been made.
4.1.2 Prior to authorising the report, the Director of City Development consulted the
Leader of Council on the delegated decision taken on 5 August 2020. The Leader
confirmed support for the Council making the payment using Leeds City Council’s
share of the Fy2019/20 BRP.
4.1.3 The Leaders of opposition parties on the Council’s Executive Board were also
consulted on this delegated decision and their views summarised in the published
report.
4.1.4 This report has been brought to Scrutiny Board following questions raised by Board
members in relation to Welcome to Yorkshire. The report responds to those
questions and follows up on the request for this to be a future agenda item.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules state that, where appropriate, all terms of
reference for work undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will include ‘to review how and to
what effect consideration has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all
equality areas, as set out in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’.
4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 This report advises of the recent financial contribution made to Welcome to
Yorkshire facilitating the Best City Ambition to have ‘A Strong Economy and a
Compassionate City’.
Climate Emergency
4.3.2 There are no specific Climate Emergency implications linked to this report.
However, when considering areas of work and future agenda items, the Board is
reminded that influencing climate change and sustainability should be a key area of
focus.
4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 All resources, procurement and value for money implications are detailed in the
main body of the report that deals with the financial contributions made by the
Council to Welcome to Yorkshire.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 The report has no specific legal implications and is not subject to call-in.
4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 This report has no specific risk management implications.
5.

Conclusions

Page 21

5.1

Leeds City Council have provided grant funding of £179,658 to Welcome to
Yorkshire. This was funded from the Authority’s share of the 2019/20 North West
Yorkshire Pool surplus following the Pool being revoked on 31st March 2020.

5.2

The purpose of this funding was to provide support to Welcome to Yorkshire in their
role as DMO for the region, working in partnership with Leeds City Council and
other authorities in the region.

6.

Recommendations

6.1.1 The Scrutiny Board is asked to consider and comment on the information provided
in this report as well as presented during the meeting; identifying any additional
actions and/or matters that may require further scrutiny input or activity.
7.

Background documents1

7.1

None

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.
1

Page 22

Appendix 1
Pooling in the region
1. Leeds City Region Business Rates Pool
The Leeds City Region Pool commenced in 2013/14 and was dissolved on 31st March 2019.
Membership was as follows:
Bradford
Leeds

Calderdale

Harrogate

Wakefield

Kirklees

York

Over these six years the Pool received £14.432m in levy payments and £23.080m from the 100%
retention pilot in 2018/19. The total balance received being £37.512m. This is shown in summary
on the table below and in more detail at Annex A:
2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

Final

Final

Final

Final

Final

Final

Outturn
£m

Outturn
£m

Outturn
£m

Outturn
£m

Outturn
£m

Outturn
£m

Balance b/f

0.000

0.532

2.544

1.693

3.193

2.775

Pool income received

1.532

2.012

3.114

3.646

4.128

23.080

37.512

Balance available to fund activities

1.532

2.544

5.658

5.339

7.321

25.855

37.512

Total Payments and Commitments

-1.000

0.000

-3.965

-2.146

-4.546

-25.292

-36.949

Remaining Balance
(rolled forward, then allocated to
member authorities after 2018/19)

0.532

2.544

1.693

3.193

2.775

0.563

0.563

Summary LCR Pool Income and
Expenditure 2013/14 - 2018/19

Total

£m

Income

Expenditure from the Pool was varied: subscriptions; grants to other organisations; and
contributions to costs incurred by members. Over the six years the total cost of commitments of
this nature was £16.016m.
Looking at 2018/19 in particular, the LCR Pool funded the following commitments, choosing to
forward fund £1.642m of 2019/20 costs out of the 2018/19 LCR Pool:
2018/19 2019/20
£m
£m

Welcome to Yorkshire subscriptions
Leeds City Region Secretariat
Combined Authority Transport Fund
Tour de Yorkshire contribution to hosting fees

0.167
0.620
0.696
0.421

Welcome to Yorkshire grant funding
Screen Yorkshire grant funding
WYCA China/India Desk funding

0.663
0.150

2.717

0.621
0.696

0.175
0.150
1.642

Also, in the final year, funding from the 100% retention pilot was used to fund a call for projects
totalling £20.933m (not included in the expenditure noted above). This included projects submitted
by member authorities, WYCA, and Leeds Bradford Airport.
The table at Annex A gives the year-by-year expenditure for the LCR Pool, with further detail on
the Strategic Aims at Annex B.

Page 23

Appendix 1
After meeting all commitments, the remaining balance allocated to member authorities was
£0.563m.
2. North and West Yorkshire 2019/20 Business Rates Pool
The North and West Yorkshire Pool commenced on 1st April 2019, and was dissolved on 31st
March 2020, following the successful application to pool 75% retention in North and West
Yorkshire.
The 2019/20 NWY Pool membership was as follows:
Bradford

Calderdale

Craven

Hambleton

Harrogate

Kirklees

Leeds

North Yorkshire CC

Richmondshire

Ryedale

Scarborough

Selby

Wakefield

York

The NWY Pool generated additional £26.7m in the region, £19.2m of which was reallocated back
to member authorities in line with the Pool’s governance agreement. The Pool retained £7.501m
and committed funding of £5.775m expenditure.
This included forward funding areas of expenditure that would otherwise fall to member authorities,
or to the new 2020/21 Pool, with its reduced income. The detail of this forward funding is included
below:
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
£m
£m
£m
Welcome to Yorkshire subscriptions
Tour de Yorkshire hosting fee
UCI Cycle Race
Secretariat Functions
Lead Authority Administration Costs
Low Carbon Project (WYCA
Combined Authority Transport Fund

0.323
0.650
0.600
0.204
0.030
0.100

Welcome to Yorkshire draft business plan
Screen Yorkshire

1.000

0.323
0.700
0.820

0.700

2.907

0.175

0.175

2.718

0.175

After meeting these commitments, the balance remaining was £1.726m, this has been
provisionally allocated back to member authorities pending audited NNDR3s later in the year. In
2019/20 member authorities submitted applications to demonstrate that their share of this
remaining balance would be used to meet the Pool’s aims. However, more recently, some member
authorities individually made the decision to use part of their share of the allocated surplus to fund
Welcome to Yorkshire in 2020/21. This decision was taken outside of the Pool arrangements.
3. North and West Yorkshire 2020/21 Business Rates Pool
The new North and West Yorkshire Pool commenced on 1st April 2020. The membership of the
Pool is as follows:
Bradford

Calderdale

Craven

Hambleton

Harrogate

Kirklees

Leeds

North Yorkshire CC

Richmondshire

Ryedale
Wakefield

Page 24

Scarborough
York

Appendix 1
The Pool was estimated to generate £10.8m in retained levies based on authorities’ NNDR1
estimates. This funding would otherwise be returned to Central Government. However, since the
onset of COVID-19, and the resultant impact on the economy, the projected income to the region
has reduced to £9.7 million.
Although Business Rates income will reduce, the levy calculation is adjusted for the S31 reliefs
that have been increased due to coronavirus, the net result to the levy calculation is therefore zero
for these reliefs. However the levy calculation does not adjust for other factors for which there is no
compensation. Such as increased bad debts, increased empty rates relief and a reduction in
growth.
The lower projected Pool income is due to the reduced estimates of growth in Leeds. Following the
NNDR1 return, the Leeds estimated levy was £2.181m, this has been reduced to £0.030m due to
the Authority’s latest projections.
During the application process the prospective Pool members agreed that funds would be
allocated to member authorities using the approach previously used for the two predecessor pools
(The Leeds City Region Pool and the North Yorkshire Pool) to distribute the funding generated in
their own areas, within their own region, using the methodologies they each had applied in
2018/19.
In summary:


Bradford, Calderdale, Harrogate, Kirklees, Leeds, Wakefield, York:
o



50% by growth above the baseline and 50% population

Craven, Hambleton, Richmondshire, Ryedale, Scarborough, North Yorkshire County
Council:
o

50% by growth above the baseline and 50% by baseline funding level

As such, the table below shows the current projected income allocated to member authorities
using the methodologies referred to above.

Page 25

Appendix 1
No projected commitments have been made against projected income at this point.

Page 26

Appendix 1
Summary of LCR Pool Income and Commitments 2013/14 to 2018/19 Pool Close

Annex A

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

Final

Final

Final

Final

Final

Final

Outturn
£m

Outturn
£m

Outturn
£m

Outturn
£m

Outturn
£m

Outturn
£m

Income
Balance b/f

0.000

0.532

2.544

1.693

3.193

2.775

2013/14 Levies (Final Outturn)

1.532

2014/15 Levies (Final Outturn)
2015/16 Levies (Final Outturn)

£m

2.012
3.114

2016/17 Levies (Final Outturn)

3.646

2017/18 Levies (Final Outturn)

4.128

2018/19 100% Pool Pilot Income (Final Outturn)
Balance available to fund activities

Total

1.532

2.544

23.080

37.512

5.658

5.339

7.321

25.855

37.512

Welcome to Yorkshire subscriptions
Screen Yorkshire

-0.167

-0.167

-0.167
-0.200

-0.167
-0.150

-0.668
-0.350

Leeds City Region Secretariat
Combined Authority Transport Fund
Tour de Yorkshire

-0.620
-0.696
-1.123

-0.620
-0.696

-0.620
-0.696
-0.200

-0.620
-0.696
-0.421

-2.480
-2.784
-2.744

-0.663

-0.663

-0.663

-0.012
-2.652

Paid

-1.000

Tour de Yorkshire (additional costs incurred by York)
Welcome to Yorkshire grant funding

-0.012
-0.663

Contributions towards Economic Development

-0.684

-2.000

-2.684

Committed (held by LCC)
Screen Yorkshire 2019/20 (forward funding)

-0.175

-0.175

2018/19 LCR Pool Call for Projects*
Business Support, Trade and Investment
Culture, Sport and Major Events

-4.378
-6.404

Enabling Housing Growth
Inclusive Growth

-1.526
-8.625

-20.933

-0.696
-0.621
-0.150

-1.467

0.563

0.563

Expenditure Committed by Leaders after Pool disbanded
Transport Fund 2019/20 (forward funding)
WYCA Secretariat 2019/20 (forward funding)
WYCA China/India Desk 2019/20 (forward funding)
Remaining balance allocated to member authorities

0.532

2.544

*2018/19 LCR Pool Call for Projects:
Further detail on LCR Pool Strategic Aim Projects worksheet.
Includes:
Payments to member authorities for projects
Payments/commitments to WYCA for projects
Commitment to Leeds Bradford Airport pending resolution of State Aid (expected this month)

Page 27

1.693

3.193

2.775

Appendix 1
Breakdown of Spend In Strategic Areas By Project 2018/19
Annex B
Strategic Area
Business Support, Trade and
Investment

Culture, Sport and Major Events

Enabling Housing Growth

Inclusive Growth

Project
Ad:Venture Phase 2
Business Support / Investment Readiness Programme
Digital Enterprise (2.0)
Investment Programme
Leeds Bradford Airport Ltd LBA European Business Hub
Connectivity Project
West Yorkshire Fibre Infrastructure Support Fund
Subtotal
Back Ie Bid (Confidential)
Castle Gateway masterplan and events programme
Great Exhibition of the North Satellite
Halifax and The Piece Hall Visitor Economy
Kirklees - the Music District
Leeds Capital of Culture Bid
Major cultural and sporting events – building the bid for UK
City of Culture 2025
Maximising UNESCO City of Media Arts Designation
Transforming Leeds Events
UCI 2019 Road World Cycling Championships
Wakefield Waterfront - Rutland Mills Multi Use Art Event
Space
Subtotal
Better by Design - York Housing delivery Programme
Dewsbury Housing
Enabling Housing Growth: Brokerage Support
Enabling quality of place & accelerating homes/jobs on
council owned land
Stalled Housing Brokerage Service
Subtotal
Bradford & Keighley CLLD
Bradford District Health & Social Care ONE WORKFORCE
City Brand and Inclusive Growth
Delivering Inclusive Growth in Calderdale
Expansion of digital engagement in Leeds
Harrogate Digital Incubator
Inclusive Growth in LCR - Skills, External Challenge and
Connectivity
Leeds City Region Growth Services
Raising Aspirations
Screen Skills Diversity Project
Smart Harrogate
Subtotal

Total

Page 28

2018/19 Total
Project Cost
-0.563
-0.715
-0.250
-0.350
-2.000
-0.500
-4.378
-0.256
-0.410
-0.050
-0.496
-0.299
-0.350
-0.539
-0.230
-1.600
-0.673
-1.500
-6.404
-0.325
-0.400
-0.250
-0.200
-0.351
-1.526
-0.500
-1.151
-0.660
-1.004
-0.400
-0.540
-2.070
-0.088
-1.360
-0.503
-0.350
-8.625
-20.933

Appendix 2
Estimated Allocation of Surplus to Member Authorities
Based on Growth + Population:

1

North and West Yorkshire Pilot Authorities

Bradford

Calderdale

Kirklees

Leeds

Wakefield

York

North Yorkshire
Area *

£

£

£

£

£

£

£

Total
£
-1,725,762

Balance to be shared between Authorities

Balance redistributed to member authorities:
Based on Growth (1/2 of "balance to be shared")

-55,886

-47,874

-58,323

-298,684

-153,714

-72,972

-175,429

-862,881

Based on Population (1/2 of "balance to be shared")

-148,099

-58,147

-121,147

-216,695

-93,369

-57,758

-167,666

-862,881

-203,985

-106,021

-179,470

-515,379

-247,082

-130,730

-343,094

-1,725,762

Craven

Hambleton

Harrogate

Richmondshire

Ryedale

Scarborough

Selby

North Yorkshire
County

£

£

£

£

£

£

£

£

Total to member authorities

Page 29

2

* North Yorkshire Area:
The two tier system requires an additional redistribution calculation
Balance redistributed to NY member authorities:

Total North
Yorkshire Area
£
-343,094

-171,547

-171,547

Based on Growth (1/2 of District share)

-8,048

-15,210

-20,418

-8,483

-8,183

-25,430

0

0

-85,774

Based on Population (1/2 of District share)

-7,985

-12,839

-22,166

-7,620

-7,585

-15,290

-12,290

0

-85,774

-16,033

-28,049

-42,584

-16,103

-15,768

-40,720

-12,290

-171,547

-343,094

Based on NY 2-tier split (County share)

Total to member authorities

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 3

Welcome to Yorkshire (WTY) can confirm that Financial Statements had been prepared in draft form
for the year ending 31st March 2019.

In order to complete the audit process WTY need to satisfy the auditor that the organisation is a
going concern and due to the uncertainty of funding at that time we were unable to do so. To avoid
late filing penalties and to allow time to confirm funding, WTY extended its accounting period to an
18 month one that would end on 30 September 2019. The audit of this extended period
commenced just prior to the Covid19 lockdown.

The principle of going concern was hindered by a variety of issues. Firstly the reduction in income
from postponed or cancelled events along with a three month payment freeze of business member
subscriptions (which was common across many other sectors of the economy), combined with the
uncertainty of local authority funding all meant that filing audited Financial Statements was very
difficult.

It has been widely reported that we have reached out to Local Authorities for funding to be able to
continue operating. The Board and leadership team have been focussed on delivery of this funding
and securing the future of the organisation which is still ongoing. This process included the
presentation of a business plan with draft figures for the years up until 31 March 2019 and 31 March
2020.

We are grateful for the support of those Local Authorities who value the role that the new WtY plays
and can separate the legacy issues from the current leadership and direction of the business. We
are also very grateful to our business members who continue to support WtY and we have seen a
very positive recommencement of subscriptions in recent weeks which is testimony to how we have
operated and demonstrated value to the Yorkshire tourism industry in the last six months.

Once the funding process is complete WtY expects to be able to file both the September 2019 and
March 2020 Financial Statements by the end of the year.

Notes to editors:
1. Welcome to Yorkshire is a company limited by guarantee, it has members rather than
shareholders. The members include the LA’s

Page 31

Appendix 3
2. We do not have a shareholder base to service with dividends
3. Pay and conditions are set by the Board which has remuneration and audit committees

Page 32

Agenda Item 8
Report author: Rob Clayton
Tel: 0113 3788790

Report of Head of Democratic Services
Report to Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources)
Date: 16 November 2020
Subject: Collection rates for Council Tax and Business Rates – 2020/21

Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to provide Board members with an up to date position
on collection of business rates and council tax in financial year 2020/21.

1.2

This item follows interest shown by Board members at the Scrutiny Board meetings
in July and September as to how collection rates for both Council Tax and Business
rates have been impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic.

2. Background Information
2.1

Council Tax and Business Rates are key elements of the local authority funding
mechanism. In Leeds they provide a significant sum of money each year that is used
to fund local services accessible to local residents and businesses.

2.2

For 2020/21 the Council planned to collect £363.2m in Business rates income and a
further £370.8m in Council tax income. These figures reflect the budgeted position in
February 2020 prior to Covid-19 and the impact it would have on local authority
finances and the ability of businesses and residents to pay Business Rates and
Council Tax in the way that they had done in previous years.

Page 33

3. Main issues
3.1

A briefing note setting out the impact Covid-19 has had on collection rates is
attached at Appendix 1 for Board members reference. This note provides an update
on the current position and also provides comparison with collection rates in previous
years that were not impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic.

3.2

Also included in the note is an explanation of how the Collection Fund works. The
Collection Fund means that Councils are able to plan for any volatility in the amount
of Council Tax and Business Rates they collect in year by delaying the impact into
the following financial year. This means that the deficit emerging in Council Tax and
Business Rates received in 2020/21 would not normally be felt until 2021/22.
However, recognising the potential scale of the impact of deficits on local authority
budgets in 2021/22 Government has announced that deficits arising in 2020/21 can
be spread over three years. The latest position on this estimates a shortfall of £43.9m
which is factored into the projected budget gaps in 2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24.

3.3

The current estimates for collection rates of Council Tax suggest that the collection
rate will fall to 94% from a target of 96.11%, equating to a further reduction in
expected in year income of £8m after the application of £8.9m of Hardship Grant
funding which has reduced the bills of Council Tax Support recipients.

3.4

For Business Rates the position is more challenging as one might expect given the
impact the pandemic has had on businesses, particularly in the hospitality sector.
The latest position on Business Rate collection (at the end of August 2020) was
42.52%, 5.19% behind performance in 2019/20. This is despite the significant
increase in business rates reliefs which will be paid directly to the Council, reducing
the amount collectible from businesses to £229.7m. The current estimate for the noncollection of business rates income stands at £20.9m but this is expected to improve
to 16.7m (7.1%) in the fullness of time, recognising that not all income is collected in
year.
The Council has agreed to a number of deferment arrangements for both residents
and businesses in relation to the payment of Council Tax and Business Rates. This
has meant that some made no payments in the first three months of the financial
year instead spreading the cost of their bill over the remainder of the year. The lower
collection rates set out in Appendix 1 take account of these deferral arrangements.

3.5

4. Consultation and engagement
4.1.1 This item has been brought forward following requests for additional information on
Council Tax and Business Rates collection rates in 2020/21 from members of
Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules state that, where appropriate, all terms of
reference for work undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will include ‘to review how and to
what effect consideration has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all
equality areas, as set out in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’.

Page 34

4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward
looking Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council objectives.
4.3.2 This report comments on the impact reduced collection rates for Council Tax and
Business Rates has on the revenue budget and savings proposals for 2021/22.
Understanding this impact supports the Best Council ambition of offering value for
money through being an efficient and enterprising organisation.
Climate Emergency
4.3.3 When considering areas of work, the Board is reminded that influencing climate
change and sustainability should be a key area of focus. However, there are no
specific implications for the Climate Emergency contained in this report.
4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 The financial implications of reduced income from Council Tax and Business Rates
are detailed in the briefing note at Appendix 1.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 This report has no specific legal implications.
4.6

Risk Management

4.6.1 This report has no specific risk management implications.
5. Conclusions
5.1

The Covid-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on the ability of residents and
businesses to pay their regular bills, Council Tax and Business Rates being two such
examples. This shortfall in income will have an impact on the availability of resources
to the Council in 2021/22 and contributes significantly to the budget challenge faced
by the authority in that year.

6. Recommendations
6.1

The Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) is asked to consider this report and
attached appendix and agree any specific scrutiny actions that may be appropriate.

6.2

Background Documents1
None.

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website,
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include
published works.
1

Page 35

This page is intentionally left blank

This briefing note will look at the collection rates for Council Tax and Business
Rates, how these compare with recent years and have been impacted by COVID-19.
It also provides a brief explanation of how the Collection Fund operates.

Council Tax

April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December
January
February
March
Total

P
h
a
si
n
%
#
#
#
#
#
#
#
#
#
#
#
#
#

2020/21
Cash
Received

2020/21
Cash less
costs

£
38,724,403
34,912,613
34,593,553
32,865,312
33,748,262

£
38,724,403
34,912,613
34,593,553
32,865,312
33,748,262

174,844,143

174,844,143

2020/21
Net Cash
Received

% of 2020/21
2019/20
at month end Year Position

CUM £
38,724,403
73,637,016
108,230,568
141,095,881
174,844,143

%
9.82%
18.69%
27.56%
36.56%
45.31%

%
10.13%
19.22%
27.99%
36.91%
45.60%
54.43%
63.29%
72.09%
80.79%
89.53%
92.99%
95.93%

18/19 Year
Position

2019/20 less
2020/21
Variance

10.27%
19.37%
28.23%
37.11%
45.89%
54.61%
63.65%
72.43%
81.21%
89.97%
93.26%
96.11%

%
-0.31%
-0.54%
-0.42%
-0.35%
-0.29%

The Council Tax in-year collection rate at the end of August was 45.31%, 0.29%
lower than performance for the same period last year. It should be noted that, due to
the impact of COVID-19 on the economy, three month payment deferrals have been
offered to Council Tax payers. Council Tax payers who took up this offer paid no
Council Tax in April, May or June, but instead agreed to spread the cost of their bill
over the remainder of the year and the lower collection rate will in part reflect the
impact of these agreed payment deferrals.
Separately, Government have given local authorities Hardship grant to provide
financial support to those in receipt of Council Tax Support. Leeds City Council
received £8.9m which has been used to provide a further reduction to Council Tax
Support recipients. This is administered through the Council’s Council Tax system
and reduces the overall amount collectible from Council tax payers, but the effect to
the Authority is net neutral.
When setting the 2020/21 budget the target collection rate for the year was assumed
to be 96.11%, in line with previous years. If the forecast were achieved this would
collect some £370.8m of income. In light of the potential impact of COVID-19, it is
currently estimated that in year collection will fall to 94%, achieving £362.8m of
income. The collection rate will continue to be closely monitored.

Page 37

Business Rates
2020/21
Cash
Received
£

2020/21
Cash less
costs

2020/21
Net Cash
Received

£

CUM £

% of 2020/21
at month end

2019/20
Year
Position

18/19
Year
Position

2019/20
less
2020/21
Variance
%

%

%

April

22,143,763

22,143,763

22,143,763

8.97%

10.72%

10.86%

-1.75%

May

29,725,764

29,725,764

51,869,527

21.29%

23.61%

23.14%

-2.33%

June

16,231,462

16,231,462

68,100,989

28.41%

31.07%

31.78%

-2.66%

July

15,987,277

15,987,277

84,088,266

35.47%

39.03%

40.14%

-3.56%

August

15,863,932

15,863,932

99,952,198

42.52%

-5.19%

47.71%

48.58%

September

56.22%

57.26%

October

65.07%

65.28%

November

72.98%

73.73%

December

81.10%

81.90%

January

89.49%

89.39%

February

94.31%

94.33%

97.29%

97.76%

March
Total

99,952,198

99,952,198

The budgeted collection rate for business rates is to achieve an in-year collection
target of 97.7%, collecting £363.2m of business rates income billed at 1st April.
However, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Government awarded
significant additional business rates reliefs, reducing the income to be collected
directly from businesses to £229.7m. These reliefs will be funded in full by
Government through Section 31 grants which reduces the risk to the Authority
regarding non-collection of business rates income. Despite this the business rates
collection rate at the end of August was 42.52%, 5.19% behind performance in
2019/20.
As with Council Tax, agreement has been reached with some business rate payers
to defer payment of bills of the first three months of the financial year, spreading the
cost of the bill over the remainder of the year. The lower collection rate will in part
reflect agreement to defer payments.
The current estimate for the non-collection of business rates income stands at
£20.9m (8.9%) but this is expected to improve to 16.7m (7.1%) in the fullness of
time, recognising that not all income is collected in year. Provisions for this additional
cost have been made.

The Collection Fund
Local authorities are required by statute to account for council tax and business rates
income in a ‘Collection Fund’, a separate accounting statement showing the amounts
that each billing authority forecast it would collect and how that has been distributed.
Councils recognise in their budget the amount they forecast they will collect and any

Page 38

actual surplus or deficit is carried forward to the following year’s budget: so a deficit
in 2020/21 would decrease the amount of business rates income available to spend
on services in 2021/22 and vice versa. This approach is intended to give local
authorities time to plan for volatility in income rather than having to respond in year.
As a result the Council is able to spend the full budgeted amount of income on the
provision of services in year regardless of the amount collected and has time to plan
how to deal with any variation in the subsequent budget.

Spreading the Collection Fund Deficit
As such any Collection Fund income shortfall in 2020/21 would normally impact on
the Council’s financial position in 2021/22. However, recognising the potential scale
of the impact of Collection Fund deficits on local authority budgets in 2021/22,
Government announced on 2nd July that they would allow phased repayment of any
such deficits over three years, spreading the revenue impact. The detailed
application of this measure is not yet known but it is assumed that any deficit will be
required to be spread evenly across the three years 2021/22 to 2023/24.

Page 39

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

Report author: Mark Mills / Graham
Sephton
Tel: 0113 3787718 / 3789343

Report of Director of Resources and Housing and Director of City Development
Report to Resources and Strategy Scrutiny Board
Date: 16th November 2020
Subject: Agile working approach and Estate Realisation
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number: 10.4(3)

Summary
1. Main issues
 The COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated a number of trends including changes to
the way people work, the way services can be delivered and therefore the way we
use our estate. During the initial COVID-19 lockdown period, over 8,000 Council
staff moved to working from home overnight. This has broadly been a positive
experience for staff and a range of support has been provided to help employees to
work from home more effectively and as we could, reopen buildings to support a
more flexible mix of office based and home working.


Through staff engagement surveys, it has become clear that the way that people
wish to work in the future has changed and so with it the way in which people will
use our buildings. Our working from home approach will continue to develop and
support a greater level of home working. We will ensure our estate is of the right
size and also change the spaces we have available to move towards a greater
number of spaces to support collaboration. This is supported by wider approaches
to changing work styles for both managers and wider groups of staff.



This will enable staff and teams to continue to deliver excellent services, but also
help with the financial pressures that the Council is facing by reducing the size of
our operational estate through a focused estate realisation programme.

2. Best Council Plan Implications (click here for the latest version of the Best Council Plan)

Page 41



Ensuring that staff can work effectively underpins the delivery of the Best Council
Plan ambitions as does the provision, spread and flexibility of our buildings. In
particular our organisational and agile work policies, as well as changes to our
estate supports the Best Council ambition to be ‘an efficient, enterprising and
healthy organisation’.



Our People Strategy 2020-25 sets out our ambition to be the Best Place to Work
with a clear focus on creating a great all round employee experience for all staff,
with the support of their leaders and managers working in a positive organisational
culture, driven by our council values.

3. Resource Implications


The current and future budget pressures are key drivers along with service needs
which has also necessitated the need to review our approach to agile working and
estate requirements. Whilst a reduction in the size of our operational estate will
deliver savings from running costs, responsive maintenance and backlog
maintenance pressures, it must be recognised that this must be supported by
adequate investment to ensure that staff have the right tools to work effectively,
safely and inclusively and that our buildings meet the requirements of staff and
services.

Recommendations
a) Resources and Strategy Scrutiny Board is asked to:
I.
Note the contents of this report
II. Consider the approach set out to home and more agile ways of working
during Covid and how the experience of staff is informing future plans.
III. Reflect on our approach to rightsizing the estate and remodelling it to support
the changing shape, size, ways of working and service delivery
requirements.
1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

This report sets out the changes that we have seen over the last 6 months in the
way that our staff are working, the support which has been provided and our
approach to home and agile working moving forwards. It also sets out the
implications and opportunities this has for our estate and the work underway to
rightsize and remodel it to ensure it meets the expectations of staff and supports
agile and flexible working and changing service delivery requirements.

2. Background information
2.1

The long established Changing the Workplace (CTW) programme has provided,
opportunities for staff to work differently, with those staff who have been through the
programme moving away from individual desks to a more flexible approach and a
target desk ratio of 6 desks for every 10 members of staff. This has been supported
by a wider roll out of laptop and mobile devices to the majority of staff to support
more flexible working with staff being able to work from home or other locations and
access systems in the same way that they would in an LCC office. It has not only
been about the physical space and equipment however, but there has been
substantial support given to staff to embrace the changes which are substantial
when compared to where we were as an organisation some 10 years ago.

Page 42

2.2

The CTW programme has over recent years focused around three workstreams
(people – led by HR; Process – led by DIS; and Place – led by Strategic Asset
Management). This has primarily focused on our City Centre Estate as well as key
locality buildings such as the Community Hubs, Albion House which is a new
property within our estate at Yeadon, and Kernel House/ Killingbeck Court. Since
2010, the Council has made good progress in rationalising its estate and leveraging
its assets to support the Council’s priorities. This has to date focused on reducing
the number of city centre buildings we occupy from 13 down to the 4 we have
today. However, there are many locality buildings which have not seen this
investment, and as such more traditional ways of working have continued. Even
where the CTW programme has been delivered, opportunities still exist to embed
further cultural change to get the full benefits of new ways of working.

2.3

The COVID-19 Pandemic and lockdown period has necessitated everyone to work
differently and services to review their delivery models. The roll out of laptops and
other mobile devices over recent years helped to ensure that we were able to
continue to run as many services as possible with limited impact to customers.
During this period over 8,000 staff took to working from home whereas pre COVID
there would have been on average some 800.

3. Main issues
3.1

The Council’s Work from Home approach during Covid
Our staff’s experience of working from home

3.1.1 In June, a survey was undertaken and made available to all 8,000 staff who have
been working from home during lockdown. This survey was carried out to explore
how staff felt about working from home, how productive they felt they could be, what
they needed in terms of equipment and support, and their attitudes towards working
from home and returning to the office in future. It also explored the impact of
working from home on wellbeing. Highlights from the results are shown in the table
below.
68% of staff felt happy working from home, 14% were not, the remainder were neutral
76% of people felt that they could work effectively and productively at home
9 out of 10 say the level of contact with colleagues and manager was about right
Best use of software–was the biggest call for support in terms of more effective homeworking
64% of people rated their home environment positively, 17% said it was poor/very poor (comfort,
health + safety).Those that didn’t rate their equipment and workspace as good said the main issue was
unsuitable furniture, followed by having limited space.
In general, slightly more staff reported that their wellbeing had improved (35%) compared to those
that said it had worsened (29%). The primary area staff reported had worsened was their social
wellbeing, with three in five saying that this had worsened. Although a quarter reported that their mental
health had improved, over one in three said it had worsened. More people (54%) said that their financial
wellbeing had improved than worsened (6%)
Looking forward, there was significant support from staff to keep working from home in the future. 52%
of staff expressed a desire to remain working remotely for most or all of the time, and over 80%
wishing to work from home for more than half of their week.
In terms of the future office environment, the tasks that staff would prioritise if they had limited time
in the office in future were: team meetings, collaboration with colleagues, training and development
and personal social interaction.

3.1.2 We have a duty to provide staff with the right kit to ensure people remain safe and
well at home. As we move forward, all staff will be required to undertake individual

Page 43

online Display Screen Equipment assessment and training for their home working
arrangements.
During lockdown, over 11,000 items of IT kit and furniture have been successfully
distributed to help people to work safely and effectively at home. As part of this, a
HR helpline has been used to capture and distribute kit to people with additional
needs and reasonable adjustments. The vast majority of kit and furniture has been
taken from closed buildings and, more recently, those with reduced capacity due to
social distancing requirements. A limited amount has been newly bought, where we
have been unable to supply from within existing stock.
3.1.3 Call backs have been undertaken with 300 people who sought additional help
through the Work from Home survey and there is work ongoing with the 1 in 6
members of staff who say that their home working environment is poor/ very poor,
and anyone experiencing discomfort. When lockdown began, people who found
working from home too difficult were supported to remain in the workplace, with
Covid secure arrangements in place, and this is further covered later in this report.
Staff wellbeing
3.1.4 In addition to our Working from Home Survey, we have also carried out 3 separate
Wellbeing Pulse Surveys with all council staff during Covid restrictions (May, June
and October). 4000-4500 employees have responded to each survey, people
working from home as well as those continuing to work in front line roles. It has
helped us to gauge how are staff have been feeling, and ensure they get the
support they need. It is not homeworking specific, more an insight into general staff
wellbeing.
3.1.5 The results from the October survey are being analysed at the time of writing, and a
verbal update will be given at the Scrutiny meeting. The headline results from the
second survey in June showed that almost two in three staff (64%) were feeling
fairly or very happy, and 11% reported feeling unhappy.
3.1.6 High level analysis of the positive comments in June indicated an increased
reference to improved work life balance, and that staff are getting used to this way
of working. Key themes were repeated around the continued importance of contact,
support and communication, with both manager and colleagues.
3.1.7 Detailed analysis of comments from staff that were unhappy identified a range of
themes including: lack of social interaction, mental health, struggling with
work/home situation, work level too high.
3.1.8 Four in five staff (82%) reported they were happy with the level of support they were
receiving. Just one in twenty-five (4%) said they were not happy with their level of
support. All managers are regularly reminded about the importance of maintaining
communication and contact with all team members, and in addition to this, over 300
individual members of staff have been contacted directly via a dedicated HR team
after asking after making a call back request.
3.1.9 The Council’s Wellbeing Offer to staff has been refreshed recently, and the full
range of support is now brought together in this wellbeing offer booklet

Page 44

Looking ahead – our plans for working from home
3.1.10 The immediate need to support working from home remains, and likelihood of Covid
restrictions affecting council services, workplaces and staff for the foreseeable
future is clear. Working from home is something that many council staff will continue
to do – and the appetite and ability for staff to do so has been proven over the last 6
months. This gives employees enhanced flexibility, better balance between work
and home life and reduces both cost and time associated with travelling and
commuting. Looking forward, we need to strike the most effective balance between
working from home, and time in the office – for the organisation and its employees.
3.1.11 A wider range of areas are currently under review as part of plans to set out our
longer term approach for working from home, and further consultation with staff and
trade unions will take place:
















Our homeworking definition and eligibility
Assessing roles suitable for homeworking
Health and safety assessments and duty of care
Home set ups – kit and equipment – who provides what
Running costs and expenses
Taxation and reporting
Mortgage, lease and insurance
Employee performance and setting clear expectations
Team/manager contact
Working hours and availability
Security and data protection
Expectations – attending main base – how often, what for
Training and support – remote working
Staff Wellbeing, inclusion and reasonable adjustments

3.1.12 It is important that we listen to those employees who enjoy it and can easily work
from home versus those that don’t like it and find it difficult. We have commenced
an Equality Impact Assessment on working from home, to ensure that we fully
consider the experiences of different staff groups, and create an approach that is
fair and inclusive.
3.1.13 We will repeat our Working from Home and Wellbeing surveys when appropriate, as
a way of checking progress and impact with staff, and will develop a range of
measures to help us evaluate our working from home approach.
3.1.14 Organisationally, we will ensure we protect service delivery, so that working from
home does not have a negative impact. We will acknowledge changing customer
expectations in our planning, and look to maximise the productivity gains working
from home can bring. Our digital strategy is key to our success, and the progressive
digital agenda extends opportunities for change beyond the home working/office
arena into all front line service delivery and locations.
3.1.15 An effective working from home approach can help us to recruit and select from a
wider talent pool (where location acts as potential barrier), to better attract talent
within, across and beyond Leeds.

Page 45

3.2

Estate Response and Realisation Approach

3.2.1 The Council has over 700 operational properties of which c200 are core operational
buildings such as offices, Children’s Centres, Adult Day Centres, Leisure Centres,
Museums, Libraries, Community Hubs, Community Centres and Homes for Older
People. During the lockdown period, approximately 80 of these buildings were
closed with office space in particular reduced to key buildings such as Merrion
House and Kernel House in Seacroft. There was also a great deal of flexibility
given to allow our open space to be utilised by partner organisations and in
particular health partners such as Leeds Community Health.
3.2.2 As the ‘COVID Secure’ requirements emerged, Facilities Management and Health
and Safety undertook work within the open office buildings initially to meet the
standards. This has involved identifying pedestrian routes and in some cases one
way systems around buildings, the removal of furniture or preventing use of desks
to meet the 2 metre social distancing requirements and ensuring that there is a
robust approach to managing the spaces including signing in/out, greater availability
of hand sanitisation and more intensive cleaning of spaces.
3.2.3 Whilst the COVID Secure requirements have been amended over time, the
requirements lead to only between 25-35% of total desks being usable. For some
people, it has been important if not essential on well-being and health and safety
grounds to come into office spaces. This was managed on a case by case basis
initially with a great deal of work undertaken throughout June and July to allow staff
who until this point had been working from home as their role did not require them
to come into an office, to be allocated a desk within one of our open buildings,
which may not have been the location where they had worked from prior to the
pandemic.
3.2.4 At the same time, work was undertaken to open up more of the estate. This
involved reopening some of our closed office buildings to provide accommodation
for a greater number of staff, but also a number of front facing customer buildings
such as Community Hubs as service delivery could start to resume, or be delivered
in a way which was more reflective of pre pandemic working. However, over 60
buildings remain closed the vast majority of which are community centres.
3.2.5 Until the government reintroduced its ‘work from home if you can’ message in
September, the availability of space was widely communicated amongst staff
allowing those who wanted to work from an office to do so or meet within our
buildings so long as the latest government guidance was adhered to. A desk
booking system has been developed to support this which incorporates ‘track and
trace’ requirements, but our findings were that the take up of space was low and is
potentially down to a number of reasons including staff being able to work
effectively at home; people still being uncomfortable travelling by public transport;
and the way in which desks were allocated meant that staff were often placed with
colleagues that they didn’t know so there was no sense of a team.
3.2.6 The latter point was being addressed at the point that restrictions were once again
increased, with team or directorate zones being introduced so that staff could be
allocated or book space with colleagues from the same areas and there were some
good examples of how this was been managed well in services such as planning
and legal where a limited number of desks were being allocated/ used on a rota
basis..
Page 46

3.3

The future of the workplace

3.3.1 Whilst increased levels of home working will become embedded, the work from
home survey and wider industry reports has identified that many staff will look to our
workspace to support collaboration, face to face interactions and training and
development. As such, our workspaces will need to be remodelled to respond to
need and ensure that spaces are as flexible as possible with less formal desk
space. We are therefore seeking to identify how new areas of collaboration space
can be brought forward and the appropriate balance between different types of
workspace environments or zones can be achieved:
- Collaboration/ huddle/ events
- Group work/ meeting space (formal and informal)
- Desk space
o quiet working
o touch down
- Confidential working/ telephone calls
3.3.2 Given the size and geographic spread of our estate we have an opportunity to
transform it to support different service delivery models, culture and ways of
working, providing a range of spaces to meet the requirements set out above.
Ultimately, our spaces need to provide as much flexibility as possible in the ways
they can be used but also allowing staff the opportunity to work more flexibly across
all of our buildings which brings with it the potential for reduced travel demand/ cost,
time savings, and more effective service delivery.
3.3.3 Whilst Merrion House is a modern building, the Council has re-engaged with
internationally renowned architects, BDP, who were behind the refurbishment works
to Merrion House to identify a series of principles around creating the right spaces
within our estate. This will initially focus on Merrion House but will allow us to roll
the approach out to other buildings across the city.
3.3.4 A trial collaboration space has already been delivered in Merrion House which has
been well received. We are very mindful of keeping costs to a minimum as part of
our remodel approach and we are therefore seeking in the first instance, to utilise
furniture that we already have within our buildings, laying it out in different
configurations. However, there will be a need to purchase new furniture to deliver
the spaces we require to ensure efficient use of space and supporting effective and
agile working. This is fundamental to the delivery of the estate realisation
programme which is targeting a 50% reduction in the amount of office space we
have. Noting that some of our buildings do not readily meet higher utilisation
requirements. This will allow us to focus on fewer, good quality and well located
buildings which provide greater flexibility for staff, with the overall intention being to
improve the utilisation of our estate and effectiveness of staff and service delivery.
As an additional benefit this approach also has the opportunity to contribute to the
regeneration of local centres with staff utilising buildings in these locations and with
it, supporting a range of local businesses.
3.3.5 The more flexibility we can create within our retained estate, the more opportunity
for our buildings to not only support and facilitate the Council’s activities but also
support greater collaboration with partners. Equally, the use of our partners’ estates
Page 47

where requirements and decision making is aligned and efficiencies can be gained
will be further explored and is already commonplace between the Council and
health partners across the city.
3.3.6 In addition to the widespread remodelling proposals, specific work is also been
progressed with the Children’s and Families, and Adults and Health Social Work
teams. Due to the specialist nature of their work the delivery of Changing the
Workplace principles has proved difficult to date. However, the work now underway
is exploring how the range of spaces outlined at 3.3.1 can be delivered to achieve
the flexibility outlined in this paper whilst transforming and better supporting the way
that these teams work. It should be noted that some spaces required are for family
contact and more bespoke solutions may be required to ensure this can continue in
a safe but inviting environment which helps to open up engagement with families
with specific and complex situations. It is hoped that this work will collectively allow
us to accelerate wider reconfiguration of the estate.
3.3.7 Work is progressing to deliver as much of the remodel opportunities within Merrion
House by spring 2021, with a rapid phased roll out across our broader retained
estate. This will allow us to progress in parallel, a phased vacant possession
strategy from buildings that are no longer required and for these to be moved on for
re-use or disposal in consultation with ward members. This has been demonstrated
through the recent work to vacate and dispose of Shire View in Headingley which
completed at the beginning of the month,
3.3.8 It is not just our office accommodation that is under review, with service reviews
also exploring how services are delivered, which could ultimately impact upon
property requirements. In parallel a review of buildings (both customer facing and
back office) on a locality basis is being progressed to understand their usage in
order to determine opportunities to bring different services/ uses together to make
the most effective use of our estate and release buildings which are no longer
appropriate or in poor condition. This could also lead to the need to change service
delivery models and may involve additional digitisation of functions or use of new
technologies which may have broader workforce and organisational design
implications. This will continue to be managed through the previously established
CTW workstreams; People; Process; and Place.
4

Corporate considerations

4.1.1 Consultation and engagement
4.1.1 In June, the Council has undertaken a survey of all 8,000 staff who were working
from home. Over 5,000 responses were received. As set out in the main section of
this report, further engagement is proposed with specific cohorts of staff and more
targeted discussions are planned to ensure we get a more detailed view of the
specific opportunities and challenges that people are facing and embracing.
4.1.2 The Executive Member for Resources has been consulted on the rationalisation and
remodel approach. All Directorates within the Council have also been consulted and
engaged with the broad rationalisation approach, with discussions now moving onto
the implications of Service Plans and how this will be reflected in Directorate Asset
Forward Plans.

Page 48

4.1.3 The Council’s work from home approach and estate remodel has been discussed
with both Labour Budget Review Group and is a regular agenda item for CJCC.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 Equality Diversity Cohesion and Integration is at the heart of considerations about
the Council’s working practices, and an Equality Impact Assessment around
working from home has commenced.
4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 Ensuring that staff can work effectively underpins the delivery of the Best Council
Plan ambitions as does the provision, spread and flexibility of our buildings. In
particular our organisational and agile work policies, as well as changes to our
estate supports the Best Council ambition to be ‘an efficient, enterprising and
healthy organisation’.
Climate Emergency
4.3.2 One of the key drivers of our estate management approach is to reduce the carbon
footprint of the Council’s buildings. Currently approximately 60% of the Council’s
carbon footprint is associated with its buildings and through the priorities set out in
the Asset Management Plan, one of which is specifically focused on supporting the
climate agenda, the Council seeks to make efficient use of its buildings and reduce
the size of its estate. Through this work, we will ensure that services are
appropriately located to minimise staff travel adding to further carbon reductions. In
addition the flexibility of the estate will provide further opportunities to minimise
travel demand.
4.3

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.3.1 Ensuring that the Council has an efficient, well utilised and affordable estate is a
driver of the Estate Management Strategy and a number of the priorities set out in
this paper contribute to this objective. Through the estate rationalisation process
which will be achieved through more flexible use of our accommodation, we are
seeking to reduce running costs associated with buildings as well as maintenance
liabilities. However, it is important to note that it will be important to make
investment into our retained estate to ensure that it is fit for purpose, appropriately
maintained and sustainable.
4.4

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.4.1

There are no legal implications related to this report.

4.5

Risk management

4.5.1 Delivering changes to and rightsizing the Council’s estate is dependent upon wider
policy changes and implementation to ensure that staff can effectively work from
home or in more agile ways as set out above. In addition wider service delivery
changes will be critical to maximising the extent of rationalisation possible.

Page 49

4.5.2 Whilst the Council has a substantial estate, it is limited given the variety of
competing needs, service requirements and priorities. This is a constant issue
when reviewing the future use of land and buildings and new processes are being
embedded to ensure that decisions are made in an appropriate and timely way.
4.5.3 Finally, there is the potential for local sensitivities regarding possible building
changes, closures and disposals. Whilst the Council may not be able to utilise
buildings, local attachment to buildings is understood and there is a commitment to
early ward member engagement to understand these sensitivities and to help to
identify solutions which can be supported locally.
5

Conclusions

5.1

Over 8,000 staff have been working from home during the COVID-19 pandemic and
the majority of staff have indicated a willingness to continue to do so in the longer
term.

5.2

To support this transition a great deal of work has been undertaken to support
greater levels of home working and ensuring that staff are well and supported.

5.3

The changes to the way that we work provide an opportunity to rightsize our estate
and transform it, to meet the changing requirements to the spaces we retain, with
greater demand for collaboration space.

5.4

This work supports the wider estate realisation programme, brings with it the
potential for wider regeneration benefits and opportunities for the council to reduce
its carbon footprint through operating a small estate and reducing travel demand by
staff.

6

Recommendations
6.1

Resources and Strategy Scrutiny Board is asked to:

i.

Note the contents of this report

ii.

Consider the approach set out to home and more agile ways of working
during Covid and how the experience of staff is informing future plans.

iii.

Reflect on our approach to rightsizing the estate and remodelling it to support
the changing shape, size, ways of working and service delivery
requirements.

7

Background documents1

7.1

None.

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.
1

Page 50

Agenda Item 10
Report author: Rob Clayton
Tel: 0113 3788790
Report of Head of Democratic Services
Report to Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources)
Date: 16 November 2020
Subject: Work Schedule

Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to consider the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for the
municipal year 2020/21.

2. Background Information
2.1

All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule
for the municipal year. In doing so, the work schedule should not be considered a
fixed and rigid schedule, it should be recognised as a document that can be adapted
and changed to reflect any new and emerging issues throughout the year; and also
reflect any timetable issues that might occur from time to time.

3.

Main issues

3.1

A draft work schedule is attached for consideration at Appendix 1. Already included
within the draft work schedule are traditional items of Scrutiny work. These involve
recommendation tracking of work previously undertaken by the Strategy and
Resources Scrutiny Board; performance monitoring reports and any Budget and
Policy Framework Plans.

3.2

On 16 March 2020, in light of the Covid-19 pandemic, Leeds City Council took the
necessary steps to cancel a number of planned meetings of various Committees,
Page 51

3.3

Boards and Panels. This included all Scrutiny Board meetings and any joint scrutiny
arrangements where the Council acts as the lead authority.
In June 2020 public sessions of all Scrutiny Boards re-started, albeit remotely. It was
agreed with Scrutiny Chairs that the first two sessions for each Board will be in a
more streamlined format than traditional committee meetings. This meeting will be
the fifth Strategy & Resources meeting to be held remotely and the new approach
has proven to be effective in terms of stability and effectively delivering scrutiny
board committee meetings.

3.4

At its July meeting Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources considered the work
schedule for the year and a number of suggestions were made. These focussed on
the budgetary implications of Covid-19 including Council Tax and Business Rate
collection, the impact the pandemic is having on ways of working, including home
working, and on how the council manages its assets and also grant allocations to
Welcome to Yorkshire.

3.5

Further consideration of the Work Schedule took place at the September meeting of
the Board and members identified continued interest in Business Rate and Council
Tax recovery rates for 2020/21 and how these have been affected by the Covid-19
pandemic, further interest in grant allocations to Welcome to Yorkshire and a desire
to look in more detail at how Covid-19 will impact the Council in terms of news ways
of working, staff well-being and use of office buildings and council assets. Some of
these items were considered as part the October agenda and a number of others
have been included in today’s agenda pack. Members are asked to consider in more
detail work schedule items for the remainder of the municipal year. The Board’s work
schedule is included at Appendix 1.

3.6

Printed draft minutes from the Executive Board meeting held on 21 October 2020 are
attached at Appendix 2. The Scrutiny Board is asked to consider and note the
Executive Board minutes, insofar as they relate to the remit of the Scrutiny Board;
and identify any matter where specific scrutiny activity may be warranted, and
therefore subsequently incorporated into the work schedule.
Developing the work schedule

3.7

When considering any developments and/or modifications to the work schedule,
effort should be undertaken to:
 Avoid unnecessary duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums
already having oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue.
 Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add value
and can be delivered within an agreed time frame.
 Avoid pure “information items” except where that information is being received as
part of a policy/scrutiny review.
 Seek advice about available resources and relevant timings, taking into
consideration the workload across the Scrutiny Boards and the type of Scrutiny
taking place.
 Build in sufficient flexibility to enable the consideration of urgent matters that may
arise during the year.

3.8

In addition, in order to deliver the work schedule, the Board may need to take a
flexible approach and undertake activities outside the formal schedule of meetings –
Page 52

such as working groups and site visits, where necessary and appropriate. This
flexible approach may also require additional formal meetings of the Scrutiny Board.
4. Consultation and engagement
4.1.1 The Vision for Scrutiny states that Scrutiny Boards should seek the advice of the
Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director(s) and Executive Member(s) about available
resources prior to agreeing items of work.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules state that, where appropriate, all terms of
reference for work undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will include ‘to review how and to
what effect consideration has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all
equality areas, as set out in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’.
4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward
looking Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council objectives.
Climate Emergency
4.3.2 When considering areas of work, the Board is reminded that influencing climate
change and sustainability should be a key area of focus.
4.4

Resources, procurement and value for money

4.4.1 Experience has shown that the Scrutiny process is more effective and adds greater
value if the Board seeks to minimise the number of substantial inquiries running at
one time and focus its resources on one key issue at a time.
4.4.2 The Vision for Scrutiny, agreed by full Council also recognises that like all other
Council functions, resources to support the Scrutiny function are under considerable
pressure and that requests from Scrutiny Boards cannot always be met.
Consequently, when establishing their work programmes Scrutiny Boards should:

4.5



Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive
Member about available resources;



Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already
having oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue;



Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add
value and can be delivered within an agreed time frame.

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 This report has no specific legal implications.
4.6

Risk Management
Page 53

4.6.1 This report has no specific risk management implications.
5. Conclusions
5.1

All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule
for the municipal year. The latest iteration of the Board’s work schedule is attached
as Appendix 1 for consideration and agreement of the Scrutiny Board – subject to
any identified and agreed amendments.

6. Recommendations
6.1

Members are asked to consider the matters outlined in this report and agree (or
amend) the overall work schedule (as presented at Appendix 1) as the basis for the
Board’s work for the remainder of 2020/21.

7. Background Documents1
7.1

None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website,
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include
published works.
1

Page 54

Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2020/2021 Municipal Year

June

July

Meeting Agenda for 10th June 2020
*REMOTE SESSION*

West Yorkshire Devolution Deal –
Consultation on the published Scheme
(PDS)

August

Meeting Agenda for 1st July 2020
and 22nd July 2020
*REMOTE SESSION* - Agenda for 1st July 2020

West Yorkshire Devolution Deal – Consultation on the
published Scheme (PDS)
*REMOTE SESSION* - Agenda for 22nd July 2020

Page 55

Financial Performance – 2019/20 Outturn (PM)
Treasury Management – 2019/20 Outturn (PM)
Impact of Coronavirus (COVID-19) upon Leeds City
Council's 2020/21 Financial Position and Update on
the Forecast Budget Position for 2021/22 (PM)

Working Group Meetings

Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled.

Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2020/2021 Municipal Year

September

October

November

Meeting Agenda for 7th September 2020

Meeting Agenda for 12th October 2020.

Meeting Agenda for 16th November 2020.

Page 56

*Remote Session*

*Remote Session*

*Remote Session*

Annual Corporate Risk Management Report
(PM)

Budget Saving Proposals – Consideration of 24
September Executive Board Report

Welcome to Yorkshire financial update

Business Continuity Plans – Overview of
Council response to Covid-19 pandemic

Inquiry into the reduction of energy consumption
in Council buildings – Formal Response (RT)

Scrutiny review of resilience and emergency
planning – recommendation tracking (RT)

Scrutiny review on the management and
financial implications of council owned void
properties – recommendation tracking (RT)

Covid-19: Agile working approach and Estate
Realisation
Council Tax and Business Rates Recovery
following Covid-19

Working Group Meetings
Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2020/2021 Municipal Year

December

January

February

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled.

Meeting Agenda for 11th January 2021

Meeting Agenda for 15th February 2021

Performance report (PM)
Page 57

Financial Health Monitoring (PSR)
2021/22 Initial Budget Proposals (PDS)
Covid-19: Agile working approach and Estate
Realisation

Working Group Meetings

Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:

White Rose Energy and Robin Hood Energy –
Update Report, Implications and alternative
suppliers
Council Tax and Business Rates Recovery
following Covid-19 – Update
Covid-19: Agile working approach and Estate
Realisation

Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2020/2021 Municipal Year
PSR
PDS

Policy/Service Review
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

March

April

May

Meeting Agenda for 22nd March 2021

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled.

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled.

Page 58
Working Group Meetings

Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review

RT

Recommendation Tracking

DB

Development Briefings

Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources)
Work Schedule for 2020/2021 Municipal Year
PDS

Pre-decision Scrutiny

PM

Performance Monitoring

C

Consultation Response

Page 59

This page is intentionally left blank

EXECUTIVE BOARD
WEDNESDAY, 21ST OCTOBER, 2020
PRESENT:

Councillor J Blake in the Chair
Councillors R Charlwood, D Coupar,
S Golton, J Lewis, L Mulherin, J Pryor,
M Rafique and F Venner

SUBSTITUTE MEMBER: Councillor A Lamb
APOLOGIES:

Councillor A Carter

48

Substitute Member
Under the provisions of Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rule 3.2.6,
Councillor Lamb was invited to attend the meeting on behalf of Councillor A
Carter, who had submitted his apologies for absence from the meeting.

49

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
There was no information designated as being exempt from publication or
confidential considered at the meeting.

50

Late Items
Agenda Item 17 - Update on Coronavirus (Covid-19) Pandemic – Response
and Recovery Plan
With the agreement of the Chair, a late item of business was admitted to the
agenda entitled, ‘Update on Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic – Response
and Recovery Plan’.
Given the scale and significance of this issue, it was deemed appropriate that
a further update report be submitted to this remote meeting of the Board.
However, due to the fast paced nature of developments on this issue, and in
order to ensure that Board Members received the most up to date information
as possible, the report was not included within the agenda as originally
published on 13th October 2020. (Minute No. 64 refers).
Agenda Item 19 - Improving Air Quality in the City (Clean Air Charging Zone
(CAZ) Update)
Although not a formal late item of business, in advance of the meeting Board
Members had received copies of correspondence received from Government
regarding the outcomes of the joint review which had been undertaken with
Government into Leeds’ compliance with the legal requirements for air quality
levels and the future of the CAZ. (Minute No. 66 refers).

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2020

Page 61

51

Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
There were no Disclosable Pecuniary Interests declared at the meeting.

52

Minutes
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 24th
September 2020 be approved as a correct record.
CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

53

Fostering Service Annual Report
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report providing an update
on the work undertaken by the fostering service between the period April 2019
and March 2020. Whilst the report provided information on developments
across the service during the relevant period, more specifically it also
presented details regarding the activity in relation to the recruitment and
retention of foster carers in Leeds.
By way of introduction to the report, the Executive Member highlighted a
number of key points including: the significant increase in the number of
expressions of interest received regarding fostering; the aim of increasing the
number of current foster care placements available to children and young
people cared for by Leeds and to reduce the use of external residential and
Independent Fostering Agency placements; developments in respect of
Special Guardianship Orders; the aim of Leeds to become a foster friendly
employer; and the priority of increasing the number of foster carers available
to support unaccompanied asylum seeking children.
Responding to a Member’s enquiries, the Board received further information
and discussed a number of issues, including: the actions being taken in Leeds
towards decreasing external residential placements, increasing the number of
foster carers in Leeds, reducing the number of children coming into care, the
current position regarding the residential estate and the benefits of Special
Guardianship Orders and Kinship Care.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the contents of the submitted report, be received, and that the
Board’s continued support for the work of the Fostering Service and the
aim of promoting the best outcomes for children, be confirmed;
(b)

That support for the following specific recommendations be agreed:(i) To increase the number of current foster care placements available
to children and young people cared for by Leeds and to reduce the
use of external residential and Independent Fostering Agency
placements for children cared for by Leeds;
(ii) To develop the offer, in partnership with Child Friendly Leeds, of
additional activities and enrichment for fostering families;
(iii) To increase the diversity of our foster carers so that it matches that
of the communities we serve and the children we care for;
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2020

Page 62

(iv) To increase our ability to meet a wide range of children’s complex
needs by developing a broader service offer underpinned by an
enhanced training programme;
(v) To continue with our work with colleagues in West Yorkshire to
improve and enhance the offer for Foster Carers taking on Special
Guardianship Orders;
(vi) For Leeds City Council to achieve ‘Foster Friendly Employer’
status.
(c)

That it be noted that the officer responsible for the implementation of
such matters is the Deputy Head of Service, Corporate Parenting.

HEALTH, WELLBEING AND ADULTS
54

Recommissioning of the Learning Disability and Autism Care and
Support Services
The Director of Adults and Health submitted a report which noted that existing
block contract arrangements with Aspire were due to expire on 31st July 2021,
and as such, outlined proposals for the re-commissioning of the services
currently provided through the block contracting arrangements and proposed
the commencement of associated consultation, as appropriate.
In introducing the report, the Executive Member highlighted how in
considering the different commissioning arrangements, there was an
opportunity to ensure that the re-provisioned services had a focus on
personalised and strengths based approaches.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board was provided with further
information on the actions being taken by Aspire to develop their base outside
of the Council.
RESOLVED (a)
That agreement be given for different approaches to be followed for the
different areas of service, based upon existing commissioning
arrangements for similar services, current expertise and the capacity in
the market, and also based upon the financial implications of the
different scenarios, with the following being progressed further,
including through formal consultation:
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Supported Living – commission the services from Aspire
through individual spot purchasing arrangements, as per
Scenario 4.1 (b) as detailed within Appendix 3 to the submitted
report;
Respite and Emergency Respite services – undertake market
sounding and procure the services through a competitive tender
process, as per Scenario 4.2 (b) as detailed within Appendix 3 to
the submitted report;
Day Opportunities – commission the services from Aspire
through individual spot purchase arrangements, as per Scenario
4.3 (b) as detailed within Appendix 3 to the submitted report.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2020

Page 63

(b)

55

That it be noted that the Deputy Director of Integrated Commissioning
will lead and progress this work.

Living with Dementia in Leeds – our strategy 2020-25
The Director of Adults and Health submitted a report which provided an
overview of the progress which had been made in this area since the previous
strategy “Living Well With Dementia In Leeds” was produced in 2013 and also
in respect of the development of a refreshed strategy for the period 2020-25.
Members welcomed the update and the information provided within the
submitted report.
RESOLVED (a)
That the strategy document “Living With Dementia In Leeds - Our
Strategy 2020-25”, as appended to the submitted report, be agreed;

56

(b)

That the establishment of the Leeds Dementia Oversight Board and its
role to oversee the Leeds Dementia Action Plan and ensure that the
strategy is implemented, be noted;

(c)

That it be noted that the design of the ‘Plan on a Page’ and strategy
document, as appended to the submitted report, will be reviewed in
order to align with the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy branding
and format;

(d)

That the role of the Commissioning Programme Lead - Dementia, in
the co-ordination of work to progress the strategy, be noted, with it also
being noted that this work will be supported by the partnership and
governance arrangements as described within the submitted report.
With the Board also noting that this is a joint role working for both the
Council and NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group;

(e)

That the role of Elected Members in supporting and monitoring the
progress being made in respect of the strategy, be acknowledged.

The Leeds Carers Partnership Strategy
The Director of Adults and Health submitted a report presenting the new
Leeds Carers’ Partnership Strategy entitled: ‘Putting carers at the heart of
everything we do’. The report highlighted how the strategy set out 6 priorities
that the Leeds Carers’ Partnership proposed were the key areas that needed
to be focussed upon in order to promote the health and wellbeing of carers in
Leeds, and to reduce the health and financial inequalities that carers
experience due to caring.
Members welcomed the information provided within the submitted report, with
a request that, as appropriate, further update reports were provided to the
Board regarding the provision of support for carers, with Members highlighting
the need to continue to monitor the situation during such challenging times.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2020

Page 64

RESOLVED (a)
That the work of the Leeds Carers’ Partnership in developing its
strategy, be noted;
(b)

That the vision and priorities, as set out within the Leeds Carers’
Partnership Strategy, as appended to the submitted report, be
supported;

(c)

That it be noted that the design of the ‘Plan on a Page’, as appended to
the submitted report, will be reviewed in order to align with the Leeds
Health and Wellbeing Strategy branding and format;

(d)

That it be noted that the Head of Commissioning (Integration) and the
Commissioning Programme Lead (Carers) will support and co-ordinate
the implementation of the Leeds Carers’ Partnership Strategy along
with the Head of Primary Care (Proactive Care), NHS Leeds Clinical
Commissioning Group.

ENVIRONMENT AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES
57

Merger of Groundwork Leeds with Groundwork Wakefield and North
Yorkshire and Leeds City Council's Future Role in Groundwork
Yorkshire
The Director of Communities and Environment submitted a report which
sought the Executive Board’s support for the decision of the Groundwork
Leeds Board to merge with Groundwork Wakefield and North Yorkshire in
order to form a new organisation entitled, ‘Groundwork Yorkshire’ that would
operate on a regional level.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board was provided with clarification
and reassurance regarding the status of a property on the balance sheet of
Groundwork Leeds which was located in Morley, with it being noted that the
property would transfer to Groundwork Yorkshire as part of the merger.
Further to this, responding to another enquiry regarding an existing liability in
the form of a loan between Groundwork Wakefield and Wakefield Council, it
was also noted that a legal agreement was in place confirming that the loan
was specifically secured against a site in Wakefield, and as such would have
no effect upon the building in Morley. In conclusion, officers undertook to
provide the Member in question with a further briefing note on such matters.
RESOLVED (a)
That the decision of the Groundwork Leeds Board to merge with
Groundwork Wakefield and Groundwork North Yorkshire, be
supported;
(b)

That in endorsing the decision of the Groundwork Leeds Board
(above), approval be given for Leeds City Council to dissolve its
company membership of Groundwork Leeds and become a company
member of Groundwork Yorkshire;
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2020

Page 65

(c)

That the establishment of a Leeds Local Groundwork Partnership
Board be approved, in order to provide local input into schemes and
programmes that are to be developed in Leeds in partnership with
Groundwork Yorkshire post-merger;

(d)

That the necessary authority be delegated to the Director for
Communities and Environment, the Chief Officer Financial Services
and the City Solicitor in order to enable those officers to conclude the
final agreement of the deed of transfer and any other agreement
needed to formalise and complete the transfer process.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor Golton
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions
referred to within this minute)
COMMUNITIES
58

Annual update on the strategic approach to migration in Leeds
The Director of Communities and Environment submitted a report which
presented an overview on migration activity that had been delivered across
the city over the past year, taking into account contributions in response to the
impact of COVID-19 on vulnerable migrant communities by the Council during
the pandemic. The report also looked to provide information on key migration
population trends; national policy changes including the approach in place to
support EU citizens living in Leeds; the new national asylum contract; and
activities across the Council in relation to supporting new and emerging
communities.
Members welcomed the update and the information contained within the
submitted report, and extended their thanks to all officers and partner
organisations involved in the provision of services for the migrant community
in Leeds.
RESOLVED (a)
That the contents of the submitted update report on migration and on
the related activity taking place, be noted, and that the approach being
adopted within the migration strategy for Leeds, be endorsed;
(b)

That it be noted that the responsibility of the Director of Communities
and Environment and the Executive Member for Communities for
leading this work through the Council’s ‘Stronger Communities’
Programme, be noted;

(c)

That the responsibility of the Chief Officer for Communities in leading
the work of the Leeds Strategic Migration Board, and the Migration
Team for providing strategic and operational direction for the city, be
noted;

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2020

Page 66

59

(d)

That the significant contributions made by services and partners
towards supporting vulnerable households and migrant communities
which have been disproportionately impacted by Covid-19, be
acknowledged;

(e)

That a further annual update report be submitted in 2021.

Understanding and progressing the city’s learning of the experience of
people living a street-based life in Leeds
The Director of Communities and Environment submitted a report which
presented the findings of the independent review of people living street-based
lives in Leeds, which was appended to the submitted report.
By way of introduction to the report, the Chief Officer, Safer Leeds presented
the key findings and recommendations of the independent review which had
been undertaken into the experience of people living a street-based life in
Leeds and provided details of the ongoing work in this area, under the three
pillars of ‘prevention’, ‘intervention’ and ‘recovery’ which moving forward
would look to progress such recommendations.
Responding to a Member’s enquiries regarding the pillar of ‘prevention’,
particularly in relation to the criminal justice system, the Board was provided
with further detail on the work being progressed in this area, together with
further detail in respect of the ‘recovery’ pillar, and the adopted approach
which was now being taken towards the provision of support and
accommodation for individuals, with an undertaking that further information on
such matters could be provided to the Member in question, if required.
Also, Members discussed and received further information regarding the
nature of the independent review which had been undertaken and the learning
which was being taken from it. Members also received information on the
liaison which continued to take place with Government on this issue and the
further development of related services for the medium to long term, with a
suggestion that a further report on such matters be submitted to the Board in
due course.
On behalf of the Board, the Chair extended her thanks to Richard Jones,
Independent Chair of the Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board together with all
partners who had been involved in the production of the independent review
report.
RESOLVED (a)
That the outcomes from the independent review of people living a
street-based life in Leeds, as outlined in the Executive and Oversight
Report, as appended to the submitted report, be received, with the key
findings and recommendations of the independent review being noted;
(b)

That it be noted that the Director of Communities and Environment will
take lead responsibility for considering the recommendations and
progressing any changes proposed in accordance with Council
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2020

Page 67

governance arrangements, working closely with other Directors and
partners as required, through agreed governance arrangements;

60

(c)

That the excellent work of officers and partners across a range of
services and sectors connected to the Street Support Partnership and
the wider homeless network, during this difficult time for many, be
acknowledged;

(d)

That the Council’s Leadership Team be requested to receive an annual
update report on the progress made in this area.

Locality working in our most disadvantaged communities: tackling
poverty and inequality and Covid-19 recovery
The Director of Communities and Environment submitted a report that
provided an update on the role of Community Committees and Elected
Members in locality working, provided details of how the application of the
principles for locality working were being progressed, highlighted the
emerging impact of Covid-19 in Leeds’ most disadvantaged communities and
the social and economic interventions which were being made to address this
and detailed the Neighbourhood Improvement Board’s role in such matters.
Members highlighted the key partnership role which had been played by the
Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and Communities), alongside crossScrutiny Board working in helping to develop the locality working approach
which had been adopted.
In discussing the report, Members emphasised the vital role played by
Neighbourhood Networks in communities, noted the effectiveness of locality
working, with the response to the pandemic being given as an example, and
highlighted the value of locality based decision making.
Responding to a Member’s comments regarding the importance of ensuring a
universal offer of provision across all communities in the city, the Board
received further detail on the work ongoing in this area, with the response to
the pandemic again being used as an illustration of the progress being made.
Members also emphasised the need to continue to focus upon the needs of
the priority neighbourhoods, and emphasised how the development of the
locality working approach needed to continue at pace, given the impact that
the pandemic was having on communities across the city.
RESOLVED (a)
That the contents of the submitted report be noted;
(b)

That the positive comments of the Environment, Housing and
Communities Scrutiny Board on the strong progress made to date, be
noted;

(c)

That the Executive Member for Communities be requested to work with
the Chair of the Environment, Housing and Communities Scrutiny
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2020

Page 68

Board in order to consider the engagement of other Scrutiny Boards in
such work;

61

(d)

That the Director of Communities and Environment and the Director of
Resources and Housing be requested to consider the implications of
the work to date in terms of organisational development and design
work in the Council;

(e)

That the Directors of Communities and Environment, Resources and
Housing, and City Development be requested to consider the
implications of the progress made to date for further improving the
connectivity of the city’s most disadvantaged neighbourhoods in terms
of economic opportunities and aligning capital investment programmes.

Investing in our Neighbourhoods - Approval for Phase 2 of Group Repair
in Holbeck
The Director of Resources and Housing submitted a report which sought the
Board’s authorisation to inject £3.9m into the Capital Programme for the
purposes of Phase 2 of the Holbeck Group Repair scheme, which included
£2.65m from the Government’s Get Building Fund, and £1.25m from private
sector contributions, Energy Company Obligation funding and the Housing
Revenue Account. In addition, the report requested that the management of
the project and subsequent approvals be designated to the Director of
Resources and Housing.
Members welcomed the proposals in the submitted report, highlighting the
range of benefits that the delivery of phase 2 of the scheme would bring to the
community in terms of energy efficiency, improved street scene and general
improvements to residents’ quality of life. The impact that the proposals
would bring in terms of carbon reduction were also highlighted.
RESOLVED (a)
That the injection of £3.9m into the Capital Programme be authorised,
of which £2.65m is secured funding from the Leeds City Region via
Government’s Get Building Fund, and £1.25m from the Housing
Revenue Account, Energy Company contributions and private sector
owners’ contributions;
(b)

That the management of the project and subsequent approvals be
designated to the Director of Resources and Housing.

INCLUSIVE GROWTH AND CULTURE
62

Update on Leeds City Council's preparations for the UK's exit from the
European Union
Further to Minute No. 57, 4th September 2019, the Chief Executive submitted
a report which provided an update on the current stage of Brexit negotiations
during the Transition Period, and the preparations that Leeds City Council
continued to make for the UK’s exit from the European Union.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2020

Page 69

By way of introduction to the report, the Chief Executive provided the Board
with an update on the current position nationally, and also in respect of the
preparation work which continued in Leeds specifically regarding the EU
Settlement Scheme, and also in respect of the liaison taking place with the
business community around its preparedness.
Members highlighted the need to ensure that any opportunities arising from
the UK’s exit from the EU were maximised. However, as the end of the
transition period approached, emphasis was placed upon the importance of
clarity being provided around the UK’s position upon exiting the EU in order to
assist with related preparations.
It was also highlighted that the city’s long term relationship with partners
across Europe and beyond would continue.
RESOLVED – That the current national position and the Council’s next steps
to prepare the Council and the city for the UK’s exit from the EU, as outlined
within the submitted report, be noted.
63

A review of statues in Leeds in response to Black Lives Matter
The Director of City Development submitted a report which presented and
invited the Board’s consideration of the findings and recommendations from
the review undertaken into statues in Leeds by Honorary Alderwoman Alison
Lowe.
The Chair welcomed Honorary Alderwoman Lowe to the meeting, who
extended her thanks to all in the reference group who had contributed towards
the independent review and presented to the Board the key findings and
recommendations arising from it.
Members discussed the value of the review which had been undertaken, the
importance of learning from and interpreting the past, highlighted the
importance of celebrating the contributions which had been made to the city
by a range of communities, and emphasised the potential for further cultural
outcomes to be delivered as a result of the review being undertaken.
RESOLVED (a)
That Honorary Alderwoman Alison Lowe and the reference group be
thanked for their important contribution to this work;
(b)

That it be noted that the review did not include proposals to remove
any existing statues in Leeds, but that it recommends a number of
initiatives to improve understanding of history, and to better recognise
the role of diverse communities and individuals in the city;

(c)

That the Chief Officer Culture and Sport and the Chief Officer Parks
and Countryside be requested to bring forward proposals to refresh
public information boards in relation to statues on Woodhouse Moor in
line with the recommendations in the review;
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2020

Page 70

64

(d)

That the Council’s support for the development of a commemorative
artwork in City Park honouring David Oluwale, and for the installation of
Pippa Hale’s artwork ‘Ribbons’, as described in section 3 of the
submitted report, be agreed;

(e)

That all the other recommendations of Honorary Alderwoman Lowe’s
review, as listed in section 2.10 of the submitted report, be accepted,
and that the Chief Officer Culture and Sport be requested to work with
others in order to take these matters forward;

(f)

That the other initiatives, as described within section 3 of the submitted
report, which are also being developed in response to the issues raised
by the Black Lives Matter movement, be noted.

Update on Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic - Response and Recovery
Plan
Further to Minute No. 40, 24th September 2020, the Chief Executive
submitted a report which provided an update on the continued Coronavirus
(COVID-19) work being undertaken across the city including the recovery
approach, outbreak management, and current issues and risks. The report
also noted that the city’s multi-agency command and control arrangements
continued to be used alongside the Response and Recovery plan with the aim
of mitigating the effects of the outbreak on those in the city, especially the
most vulnerable, and to help prepare for the longer term stages of recovery
planning.
With the agreement of the Chair, the submitted report had been circulated to
Board Members as a late item of business prior to the meeting for the reasons
as set out in section 9 of the submitted report, and as detailed in Minute No.
50.
Members were provided with an update on the latest developments from both
a local and national perspective. This included the current position regarding
discussions with Government in respect to Leeds and the discussions taking
place with other Local Authorities; Leeds’ Tier 2 (High Risk Alert) status; the
latest infection and positivity rates in the city; the liaison taking place with
partner organisations and the range of sectors across Leeds; with it being
noted that Members and relevant parties would continue to be kept informed
of any related developments.
Members then discussed a range of issues including:
 the extent to which localised Government restrictions were helping to
reduce infection rates in communities;
 the representations which were being made to Government regarding the
relevant knowledge and expertise within communities and the need for a
more localised approach towards initiatives such as test and trace;
 the need for a unified approach when making representations to
Government, and the importance of continuing to work with partners
across all sectors;
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2020

Page 71






the initiatives that the Council could potentially consider to help support
the business sector, with a suggestion being made regarding city centre
car parking charges;
the need for further clarity to be sought around the thresholds which
triggered localised restrictions in a locality or region, the overall need for
clear messaging and the support which needed to be provided to
members of the community in order to keep them informed and help them
abide by any restrictions;
clarification was provided regarding the process by which formal
discussions on such matters took place between the Local Authority and
Government, and Members received further detail on the latest position
regarding such discussions with Government and also with other Local
Authorities.

RESOLVED –
(a)
That the updated context, progress and issues, as detailed within the
submitted report, as we move into a period of increased national
Government restrictions to respond to the Covid-19 pandemic, which is
anticipated to last for at least six months, combined with the outcome
of discussions about the new Covid-19 Alert system which could bring
further government restrictions, be noted;

65

(b)

That the emerging issues for consideration during the next phase of
response and recovery, as detailed in the submitted report, including
winter pressures on the health and care system, flood risk and extreme
weather, local government finance and capacity concerns and EU Exit,
be noted;

(c)

That the need for a city-wide approach towards controlling
transmission, given high rates of prevalence across all the city’s
Wards, be recognised, alongside the need for enhanced actions and
engagement in those areas with the highest rates;

(d)

That the new responsibilities of Local Authorities to implement selfisolation support payments and new powers of the Police to enforce
Covid-19 regulations, be noted;

(e)

That in respect of the financial implications for the Council arising from
the Coronavirus pandemic, the contents of the submitted report be
used as context when the Board considers the more detailed financial
health monitoring report, as detailed at Minute No. 67, and the Leeds
Economic Recovery Framework report, as detailed at Minute No. 65.

Leeds Economic Recovery Framework
The Director of City Development submitted a report presenting the Council’s
proposed approach towards economic recovery from the COVID-19
pandemic, which set out background information on the pandemic and the
city’s response, together with what was happening at a local level which
aimed to continue to ensure economic recovery from the crisis whilst also
continuing to deliver Inclusive Growth.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2020

Page 72

It was noted that an approach rather than a fixed plan was being proposed,
with the aim of ensuring that this would enable the Council and the city to
adapt quickly during this uncertain period, whilst striving to build more
resilience into Leeds’ economy. The 3 pillars underpinning the approach,
namely, ‘Respond’, ‘Reset and Renew’ and ‘Build Resilience’ were highlighted
together with an outline of the actions to be taken within those pillars.
Responding to a Member’s comments, the Board was provided with further
detail regarding the actions which were being taken in order to help deliver
support and economic recovery in the immediate and short term, whilst also
looking towards the medium to longer term.
In addition, a Member highlighted the importance of providing support not only
in terms of the city centre economy but also in terms of more localised district
centre economies.
RESOLVED (a)
That the proposed Leeds Economic Recovery Framework, as
appended to the submitted report, which complements the Leeds
Inclusive Growth Strategy and which sets out the Council’s approach
towards recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic for the city of Leeds,
be approved;
(b)

That it be noted that the Framework will be used as the foundation to
begin a conversation with partners and stakeholders on how to recover
and build resilience into the Leeds economy moving forwards;

(c)

That it be noted that the officer responsible for leading on this
economic recovery approach is the Director of City Development.

RESOURCES
66

Improving Air Quality in the City (Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) update)
The Director of Resources and Housing and the Director of City Development
submitted a joint report presenting a summary of the findings from the review
into the Leeds Clean Air Zone (CAZ) and which detailed the strategy to
ensure that compliance would be maintained, with information also being
provided on the other air quality measures which were being progressed in
the city. In addition, the report also provided information regarding the
distribution of financial support to affected sectors and details the current
budget position of the CAZ.
By way of introduction to the report, the Executive Member confirmed that
following a joint review with Government, the Council and the Government
had jointly agreed that Leeds had achieved compliance with the
Government’s EU compliance (PCM) model and would maintain compliant
into the future, and consequently, the CAZ was no longer required.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2020

Page 73

The Executive Member also made reference to the correspondence
confirming this which had recently been received from Rebecca Pow MP and
had been circulated to Board Members for their information in advance of the
meeting.
Also, it was highlighted that in moving forward, although the legal requirement
had been met, the Council wanted to build upon the momentum achieved and
continue to improve the city’s air quality, which would require an update of the
city’s air quality strategy and the involvement of Scrutiny in such matters. The
Executive Member also provided an update and clarification regarding the
current position in respect of clean air funding.
Responding to a Member’s enquiries, it was undertaken that officers would
provide the Member in question with further detail regarding the range of
targets which were in place on a national, West Yorkshire Combined Authority
and Leeds level to become carbon neutral.
Also, the Board received further information regarding the CAZ infrastructure
which had been installed, and in response to a specific enquiry, it was
confirmed that at present, there were no plans to introduce a congestion
charge in Leeds.
Responding to a Member’s concerns, the actions which were intended to be
taken towards the continued improvement of air quality in the city were
reiterated.
RESOLVED (a)
That the outcome of the review into Leeds air quality compliance
achieving legal compliance requiring the cancellation of the proposed
Leeds Clean Air Charging Zone (“Leeds CAZ”), be noted;

67

(b)

That the necessary authority to take any formal steps under the
Transport Act 2000 to revoke the Leeds Clean Air Zone Charging
Order (No. 01) that was made on the 19th December 2018, be
delegated to the Director of City Development in conjunction with the
City Solicitor;

(c)

That the funding repurposing package which has been requested from
Central Government, be noted;

(d)

That the high level approach towards the development of the “Air
Quality Strategy 2021 – 2030”, be approved.

Financial Health Monitoring 2020/21 – Month 5
The Chief Officer Financial Services submitted a report presenting the
projected financial health position of the Authority for 2020/21, as at month 5
of the financial year.
As part of the introduction to the report, the Board received an update on the
ongoing discussions which continued with Government regarding the
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2020

Page 74

provision of further support for the current financial year, with it being noted
that the Government’s response was expected in late November, and that the
intention was to provide the Board with further updates at the November and
December meetings. Once the outcome from Government was provided, it
would be at this point when it would be known whether or not the Council
would need to consider emergency provisions to balance the budget.
Responding to a Member’s enquiries, the Board was provided with an update
on the work being undertaken with regard to emergency provisions which may
potentially be required to balance the Council’s budget, dependent on the
outcome of the Government’s response regarding the provision of further
support.
Also, Members discussed the approach which had been taken by the Council
with regard to the Minimum Revenue Provision, and in response to a specific
enquiry regarding the potential cost to the Council should any further national
lockdown restrictions be introduced, it was undertaken that officers would
respond to the Member in question directly on this.
In response to a Member’s enquiry, the Board was provided with further detail
regarding the estimated increase in Children Looked After residential costs
due to the pandemic during 2020/21.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the projected financial position of the Authority, as at Month 5 of
the financial year, together with the projected impact of COVID-19 on
that position, as detailed within the submitted report, be noted;

68

(b)

That it be noted that the position reported does not reflect the potential
effects of any further local or national lockdown arrangements not yet
introduced, which could impact upon these financial projections;

(c)

That it be noted that the remaining financial gap will still require
significant savings and further support from Central Government;

(d)

That it be noted that the Authority is awaiting a response to a request
for further Government financial support this year, and this will inform
any further action that the Council may need to take in order to deliver
a balanced budget position in this financial year.

Revenue Budget Update 2021/22 and Budget Savings Proposals
Further to Minute No. 43, 24th September 2020, the Chief Officer Financial
Services submitted a report detailing the actions which were underway and
proposed to address the financial gap for 2021/22, currently estimated at
£118.8m. The report also presented a series of savings proposals to
contribute towards the Council achieving a balanced budget for 2021/22 and,
where appropriate, sought agreement to begin meaningful consultation with
staff, trade unions, service users and the public, as required.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2020

Page 75

Members welcomed the early sight of the proposals detailed within the
submitted report.
Responding to Members’ enquiries about a number of proposals and the
directorate based information within the report, it was noted that, further to the
report submitted to the Board in September, the proposals detailed in the
submitted report were not final, and that given the scale of the financial
challenge being faced, these proposals were being considered at this time as
part of the wider process which would see the initial budget proposals
submitted to the Board later in the year.
In response to a specific enquiry, the Board received an update regarding the
Government’s latest announcement regarding its Comprehensive Spending
Review.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the financial position for 2021/22, as outlined within the submitted
report be noted, with it also being noted that further savings are
required to deliver a balanced budget position;
(b)

That it be noted that the ‘Business as Usual’ savings and the decisions
to give effect to them shall be taken by the relevant Director or Chief
Officer in accordance with the Officer delegation scheme (Executive
functions);

(c)

That the recommendations within the ‘Service Review’ proposals as
detailed at Appendix 2b of the submitted report be agreed, and that
agreement be given for consultation to commence; and that it be noted
that decisions to give effect to them shall be taken by the relevant
Director or Chief Officer following the consultation period, in
accordance with the Officer delegation scheme (Executive functions),
save where the Leader or Director considers that the matter should be
referred to Executive Board for consideration;

(d)

That it be noted that the next Best Council Plan update will be brought
to Executive Board in September 2021.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor Golton
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions
referred to within this minute. Also, it was noted that whilst Councillor Lamb
was attending the Board meeting in a non-voting capacity, were he able to, he
would have abstained from voting on the decisions referred to within this
minute)
69

Accelerated Capital Receipts and Estate Rationalisation
Further to Minute No. 46, 24th September 2020, the Director of City
Development submitted a report regarding the approach to Estate Realisation
and the generation of Capital Receipts. Specifically, the report provided more
detail of the proposed next tranche of accelerated disposal properties which
were targeting December 2020 auction dates.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2020

Page 76

Responding to a Member’s concern, the Board discussed and was provided
with further information on the proposal regarding East Lodge, Temple
Newsam Estate, with specific reference to the consultation process which had
been undertaken in respect of this.
A Member’s comments regarding Leeds Sailing and Activities Centre were
noted.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the accelerated disposal of those properties as set out in Table
3.1 of the submitted report, which have already been agreed as part of
the Capital Receipt Programme, be supported;
(b)

That the injection of those additional properties to be introduced into
the Capital Receipt Programme, as set out in Table 3.2 of the
submitted report, be agreed, with agreement also being given for those
properties to be accelerated for disposal;

(c)

That it be noted that further reports will be presented to Executive
Board providing updates on progress, and seeking approval to sell
where properties do not from part of the current approved Capital
Receipts Programme;

(d)

That it be noted that the disposal of properties and the identification of
a strategic approach towards the Council’s estate is the responsibility
of the Director for City Development.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor Golton
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions
referred to within this minute. Also, it was noted that whilst Councillor Lamb
was attending the Board meeting in a non-voting capacity, were he able to, he
would have abstained from voting on the decisions referred to within this
minute)

DATE OF PUBLICATION:
LAST DATE FOR CALL IN
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS:

FRIDAY, 23RD OCTOBER 2020
5.00 P.M. ON FRIDAY, 30TH OCTOBER
2020

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2020

Page 77

This page is intentionally left blank

